Norwegian School of Economics Bergen, Autumn 2022





Launch of sustainability labels: Effects of linking sustainability to major drivers for choice

Siren Dahlsveen & Maria Selsås Fjogstad

Supervisor: Magne Supphellen

Master's Thesis, MSc. In Economics and Business Administration, Marketing & Brand Management; Energy, Natural Resources & the Environment

NORWEGIAN SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS

This thesis was written as a part of the Master of Science in Economics and Business Administration at NHH. Please note that neither the institution nor the examiners are responsible – through the approval of this thesis – for the theories and methods used, or results and conclusions drawn in this work.

Acknowledgements

This master thesis is written as a part of our master's degrees in Marketing & Brand Management and Energy, Natural Resources & the Environment at the Norwegian School of Economics.

We are grateful for the support we have received. First and foremost, we express our gratitude to our supervisor, Professor Magne Supphellen, who helped us along the way in realizing the project. Further, to our collaborative partner Orkla for professional discussions when needed. Finally, we would like to thank our friends and family who have supported us through this semester.

Abstract

Many food producers improve the sustainability of their products and look for ways of communicating the improvement. One approach is to launch a new sustainability label. However, little is known about how to launch new sustainability labels effectively. We suggest that such labels should not be launched in isolation, but rather linked to major drivers for choice, such as taste, convenience, or healthiness. We tested this prediction across three categories with different levels of sustainability level of category: high/medium/low) between-subjects design. The results provided partial support for the hypothesis that linking sustainability labels to major drivers for choice is more effective than a stand-alone launch of labels. The effect seems to be independent of the sustainability level of the product category.

Keywords: · sustainability labels · sustainable branding · integrated sustainability communication · product categories · sustainability concerns · Orkla foods ·

Contents

Acknowledgements	2
Abstract	3
1. Introduction	8
2. Literature Review	11
 2.1 Sustainability 2.1.1 Concept and scope 2.1.2 Sustainable development goals 	<i>11</i> 11 12
2.2 Green consumption2.2.1 Definition and scope2.2.2 Attitude-behavior gap	<i>12</i> 12 13
 2.3 Consumer-oriented sustainability communication	<i>14</i> 14 17 18
 2.4 Branding 2.4.1 Brand elements 2.4.2 Positioning 2.4.3 Sustainable brand positioning 	<i>19</i> 19 20 22
 2.5 Sustainability across product categories 2.5.1 The target group of eco-friendly product categories 2.5.2 The attitude-behavior gap for the various food categories 2.5.3 Sustainability in vice and virtue product categories 2.5.4 Strength-related vs gentleness-related product attributes 	24 25 25 26 27
3. Model and hypotheses	28
3.1 Conceptual model	28
3.2 H1: Sustainability linked to a driver for choice	29
3.3 H2: Sustainability of product category as a moderator	30
3.4 H3: Perceived importance of sustainability as a moderator	31
4. Methodology	32
4.1 Research design	<i>32</i> 32
4.2 Data collection and procedure	33
4.3 Sampling and preparation for data analysis	35
 4.4 Choice of stimuli	36 36 36 37
 4.5 Questionnaire and measurements	<i>37</i> 38 39

4.5.3 Moderating variable 4.5.4 Additional and control variables	
4.6. Reliability of construct	41
4.7 Descriptive Statistics	
4.8 Assumptions of analysis	45
5. Data analysis and results	46
5.1 Hypothesis testing	
5.1.1 Effects on product attitude	46
5.1.2 Effects on perceived product sustainability	
5.1.3 Moderating effect of Perceived Importance of Sustainability	47
5.2 Summary of results	
6. Discussion of results	
6.1 H1 - Direct effect of integrating the message	
6.2 H2 - Moderating effect of product category.	
6.3 H3 - Moderating effect of perceived importance of sustainability	
6.4 Contribution to Literature	
6.5 Practical implications	56
7. Limitation and future research	58
7.1 Limitations	
7.1.1 Internal validity	
7.1.2 External validity	
7.2.5.	
7.2 Future research	01
References	63
Appendices	77
Appendix A: Tables in the literature	77
Appendix A.1: Sustainability label categorization based on focus area	
Appendix A.2: ISO categorization of eco-labels	
Appendix A.5: Various success factors for fabers	
Appendix B: Questionnaire	79
Appendix C: Data-analysis	
Appendix C1: Descriptive statistics and correlations	
Appendix C2: Analysis ΠI A and B. Appendix C3: Analysis H2-A and B	
Appendix C4: Analysis H2 – A	
Appendix C5: Analysis H3 – B.	
Appendix D1: Discussion	

List of Figures

Figure 1: Exemplifying illustration of a strategic brand positioning	21
Figure 2: Conceptual model	
Figure 3: Sustainability label: Klodemerket / The globe label (Toro, 2022)	

List of tables

Table 1: Sustainability labels by stakeholder, Lambin & Thorlakson (2018) p. 6/371.	15
Table 2: Between-subjects Factorial Design	
Table 3: Reliability of construct	42
Table 4: Descriptive statistics	42
Table 5: Correlation matrix	44
Table 6: Summary of results	51

1. Introduction

"Infinite growth of material consumption in a finite world is an impossibility" - E.F Schumacher (1990)

A quote that emphasizes the challenges of the utilization of resources in consumption and production. Climate change is one of the most well-known environmental consequences of unsustainable production and consumption. Given that private households are responsible for up to two-thirds of global greenhouse gas emissions, household consumption and habits can significantly affect global warming (United Nations, 2022a).

Consequently, environmental awareness is gaining traction among consumers as they become more aware of how their habits and consumption affect the planet (Majer et al., 2022), and there is a strong desire to engage in more green consumption and purchasing (Norad, 2018). To adapt to new consumer expectations and thus increase competitiveness, in addition to facilitating more green consumption patterns, sustainability labels and associated sustainability communication have been extensively used (Nikolaou & Tsalis, 2018). However, although consumers report positive attitudes toward acting more sustainably, an actual change in behavior is lacking due to the existence of various trade-offs tied to green products (i.e. price, taste, quality etc.) (Sachdeva et al., 2015). In addition, many consumers suspect companies to be performing greenwashing, meaning that they are skeptical as to whether this type of communication does not necessarily increase the attractiveness nor the perceived sustainability of the brand or product. At worst, it can have a negative impact on the brand's reputation.

It is therefore of interest to look at how sustainability can be communicated in a reliable matter that changes the perceived sustainability of the product and that manages to facilitate changes in product judgments. Previous research points to communication that provides straightforward yet comprehensive information about the sustainability impacts of products (e.g., Turunen & Halme, 2021). However, based on an extensive literature review, Supphellen (2020) suggests that informational sustainability claims alone will not have a meaningful impact on making sustainability a part of the brand if it is not linked to other important drivers for choice. To look further into this, the research question guiding this thesis is: **RQ1:** What messages are more effective when launching a new sustainability label?

Moreover, we believe that the effectiveness can be different under various conditions, such as for product categories of different sustainability levels. Literature suggests that products that are perceived as more healthful and providing long-term benefits do not have as much to gain from being introduced as green as the less healthful ones, due to the redundant information (Olsen et al., 2014). Although research points to a sustainability liability, leading consumers to infer lower product functionality among products with strength-related benefits for sustainable products (Luchs et al., 2010), this liability effect diminishes when the consumer cognitively reflects on the sustainability message (Skard et al., 2019). If this cognitive reflection takes place when the message is linked to other drivers, the expected improvement in product evaluation among less healthy products that also have strength-related attributes can be assumed to take place. Therefore, our second research question is:

RQ2: Will the sustainability level of the product category moderate the effect of launch messages?

Another condition that we believe could influence the effectiveness of sustainability communication is the consumer's perceived importance of sustainability. The target group for green food products is typically individuals with high concerns for sustainability, as they are more likely to see the value of green product attributes. Individuals that are less concerned with sustainability, however, are less likely to accept the trade-offs tied to choosing green products (Olsen & Ougland, 2021) Our third research question is, therefore:

RQ3: Will the perceived importance of sustainability moderate the effect of launch messages?

We find that the research field of sustainability communication is still an emerging field that needs to be explored further, as many companies still struggle to successfully make sustainability a part of their brand. Research on how to integrate sustainability into the brand position is still limited, and we believe that this master thesis could be a meaningful contribution to the existing literature. Seeing that sustainability communication could be an important tool in pushing sustainable consumption, we find it relevant, important, and interesting to investigate the different conditions that could affect its effectiveness. To answer the research questions, the study will navigate through several important research steps. First, we will review the current academic literature related to sustainability, green consumerism, consumer-oriented sustainability communication, branding, and sustainability across product categories. Next, three hypotheses are derived from the literature. Moreover, the methodology of our research will be introduced. Furthermore, the data analysis and results will be presented, before being discussed in the next chapter. In addition, this study's validity, limitations, and suggestions for future research are discussed.

2. Literature Review

This chapter will present literature relevant to answer the three research questions (Saunders et al., 2012). To begin with, the widely used but vague concept of "sustainability" and its associated terminology will be defined and clarified. Secondly, the relevant literature on green consumption will address aspects of consumer behavior linked to sustainability. Thirdly, literature on consumer-oriented sustainability communication in terms of sustainability labels and free-form communication will be addressed. Further, the relevant literature on branding will be presented to assess which communicative prerequisites apply in making sustainability a part of the brand. Lastly, sustainability across product categories will be introduced, including a discussion of the target groups of eco-friendly food products, and their demands.

2.1 Sustainability

2.1.1 Concept and scope

Over the past few decades, interest in sustainability topics has steadily increased (Fischer et al., 2020), and currently, sustainability is on the agenda of customers, companies, and authorities (Jørgensen & Pedersen, 2018). Despite this, sustainability is a complex and challenging term to define. However, many refer to sustainability as *sustainable development*, which the United Nations Brundtland Commission has defined as "*meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs*" (UN General Assembly, 1987, p. 24). This definition is a broad and sociopolitical definition, which could be hard to conceptualize for some. It is, therefore, interesting to look at other definitions. Cambridge dictionary defines the general term for sustainability as "*the quality of being able to continue over a period of time*," while when connected to the environment, sustainability is defined as "*the quality of causing little to no damage to the environment and therefore able to continue for a long time*".

The concept of sustainability is examined and researched from different angles, such as institutional, political, and ethical, and it is therefore hard to land on a definition that covers all its facets (Fischer et al., 2020). However, a prevalent description of "sustainability" uses three interconnected "aspects" which encompass economic, social, and environmental sustainability (Purvis et al., 2019). To represent these three aspects of sustainability, the term "triple-bottom-line" was coined by Elkington (1998). The three aspects are also referred to as "people, planet, and profit" (Wilson, 2015). Numerous organizations and agencies have adopted the triple-

bottom-line concept, including the United Nations World Assembly, which in 2005 stated that "We reaffirm that development is a central goal in itself and that sustainable development in its economic, social and environmental aspects constitutes a key element of the overarching framework of United Nations activities" (United Nations, 2005, p.2).

2.1.2 Sustainable development goals

A great deal of the current sustainability literature is linked to the United Nations diverse set of sustainable development goals, referred to as SDGs (Purvis et al., 2019). The SDGs are part of The United Nations 2030 Agenda for sustainable development, which was launched in 2016, and consists of 17 goals and 169 targets (United Nations, 2022b). The SDGs balance the three aspects of sustainable development—the economic, social, and environmental.

For this master's thesis, SDG number 12: Ensuring sustainable consumption and production patterns, is especially relevant (United Nations, 2022c). This goal emphasizes that over the last century, economic and social progress has been accompanied by environmental degradation that threatens our future development and survival (United Nations, 2022c). In other words, even though global consumption and production drive the global economy, it comes at the cost of our natural environment and resources

2.2 Green consumption

2.2.1 Definition and scope

In line with SDG number 12, consumers are becoming more aware of how their daily consumption and habits affect the environment (Majer et al., 2022). A survey from The Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (Norad), found that four out of five Norwegian consumers are willing to change their daily habits for the environment (Norad, 2018). These consumers could be considered *green consumers*, which is defined by Gleim et al (2013) as "one that takes into account his or her impact on the physical environment when making product purchases" (Gleim et al., 2013, p.45). The sum of consumer initiatives and actions that protect the environment and reduce the negative impact of consumption could be defined as green consumerism or green consumption (Riva et al., 2022; Pieters, 1991; Yang et al., 2015). This term has been used differently and sometimes interchangeably with other terms such as socially responsible consumption, to mention some (Nguyen et al., 2019). Hence, there

has been a lack of clarity in their definitions and usage in the literature (Tan et al., 2016). Nevertheless, there is a common theme: minimizing the unwanted environmental consequences of consumption (Nguyen et al., 2019). However, the term green could in a broader sense be defined as "oriented toward sustainable development." (Nguyen et al., 2019).

Green Consumption can play a significant part in lowering per-person greenhouse gas emissions and is an easy way for consumers to participate in pro-environmental and sustainable behavior (Sachdeva et al., 2015). Various measures to promote green consumption can be implemented, including eco-labeling schemes, public awareness campaigns, standards, and certifications that are eco-efficient (Akenji, 2014)

Akhtar et al. (2021) found that consumers' willingness to buy green products is significantly influenced by their environmental attitudes. According to Chekima et al., (2016), consumers' environmental attitudes are determined by how they perceive the environment, what they feel about sustainability issues, and how they are willing to act. This perceived importance of sustainability, together with the company's environmental reputation, will further have an impact on the consumers' actual green purchase behavior (Riva et al., 2022). Although attitudes differ between generations, industries, and nations, 85% of consumers globally indicate that they have become more concerned with buying sustainable products in the past five years. Furthermore, 50% of consumers state that sustainability is one of their top five value drivers (Simon-Kucher & Partners, 2021).

2.2.2 Attitude-behavior gap

However, a value-action gap, also known as an attitude-behavior gap, is revealed by psychological research that examines the relationship between environmental attitudes and behaviors (Sachdeva et al., 2015). Relatively few consumers act consistently green despite considering themselves as green, as shown by the low market share of sustainably preferable products and the observation that labeled products typically are not market leaders (OECD, 2005; Pedersen & Neergaard, 2006). Purchases are often led by habit, leading labeled products to be deprioritized (Horne, 2009; Gallastegui, 2002). In addition, few individuals would be prepared to give up affordability, comfort, and simplicity, in favor of a product's "greenness," even though most people might support pro-environmental ideals. Green consumerism often proposes the dilemma of a trade-off for the customer (Sachdeva et al., 2015). Choosing between

personal gains, such as a low price for a less sustainable product vs. a higher price for another more sustainable product, could be challenging for the consumer. There is evidence of a disconnection between customers' stated opinions and actual purchasing behavior for sustainable items, indicating that barriers to sustainable consumption still play a significant role in many consumer decisions (Skard et al., 2019). Overall, this emphasizes the importance of finding ways to break consumer habits and to execute green communication that ensures the consumer of the maintenance of other key product benefits, removing the trade-off dilemma.

2.3 Consumer-oriented sustainability communication

When consumers choose to follow greener consumption patterns, the *perceived sustainability* of the product is of importance. Perceived sustainability is defined by Lee (2019) as "the degree to which a consumer believes a company's sustainable actions meet the needs and aspirations of the present and the future" (Lee, 2019, p 1541). This implies that the company will be seen as more credible in its green communication, which is essential for the communication to be effective (Tiwari et al., 2011). Lee (2019) argues that increasing the perceived sustainability should be at the center of the design and execution of all sustainability communication.

Sustainability communication directed to consumers mainly comes in two forms: sustainability labels (Horne, 2009; Testa et al., 2015) and free-form sustainability communication (Peattie and Crane, 2005). In the following, we will look further into the two types.

2.3.1 Sustainability labels

The sustainable attributes of a product could be communicated by sustainability labels, either as a complementary to free-form sustainability communication, or stand-alone.

2.3.1.1. Definition and scope

It can be difficult for customers to make sustainable choices due to differing levels of knowledge about corporate environmental performance and a product's environmental status (Nikolaou & Tsalis, 2018). This is referred to as an "information gap" or "information asymmetry" (Nikolaou & Tsalis, 2018), and is just one out of many barriers to sustainable consumption (Majer et al., 2022). Sustainability labels for products and businesses have been proposed to provide information and contribute to closing the knowledge gap for consumers (Nikolaou & Tsalis, 2018). A label is a logo that confirms that a firm or product has complied

with a standard (Poret, 2019); accordingly, sustainability labels signalize that a firm or product has complied with a sustainability standard. They are, therefore, an easy-to-implement, cheap policy tool to promote sustainable purchase habits and raise transparency and trust in sustainability-related product qualities.

2.3.1.2 Types of sustainability labels

Sustainability standards and labels are the results of both public and private initiatives (Grunert et al., 2014), and can be set by NGOs, governments, companies, and multi-stakeholder initiatives (Lambin and Thorlakson, 2018). Inevitably, sustainability labels are coming from all directions. According to Torma and Thøgersen (2021), due to the abundance of complex, redundant, and ambiguous information in the sustainability label landscape, the labels are no longer widely recognized as an effective tool for guiding consumers toward more ecologically friendly choices. This implies that even though sustainability labels are informative, they could also cause customer confusion (Torma & Thøgersen, 2021).

According to a study by Atkinson and Rosenthal (2014) the source of the sustainability label could influence the perceived credibility of the label in low-involvement situations, whereby claims made by private companies are seen as less credible than those made by government agencies (Atkinson & Rosenthal, 2014). The table below (Table 1) aims to clarify the various label sources, sorting the labels based on lead stakeholders. The table is a copy from Lambin & Thorlakson (2018), adapted with relevant examples.

Lead-	Standard	Who Sets	Who Monitors	Example label
stakeholder				
Government	Voluntary governmental-led certification	Government, often with input from NGOs, companies, and producers	Third party	EU ecolabel
NGO	NGO certification	NGO	Third party	Fairtrade
	Multistakeholder certification	NGOs, companies, producers	Second or third party	FSC
Company	Company-led standards	Company	First, second or third part	Klodemerket

Table 1: Sustainability labels by stakeholder, Lambin & Thorlakson (2018) p. 6/371

2.3.1.3 Environmental labels and carbon footprint labels

Most sustainability labels are standalone, single-issue labels that concentrate on aspects of sustainability (Torma & Thøgersen, 2021). The mass of these single-issue labels focuses on the environmental aspect of sustainability, which can be referred to as environmental labels or Eco-labels (See appendix A.1 for other focus areas). Eco-labels work as "certification marks or seals of approval to cue consumers about the environmental qualities of a product or service while assuring consumers of the truthfulness of these claims" (Atkinson & Rosenthal, 2014, p.34). Having an eco-label on a product could therefore be helpful, as consumers may not be able to determine how it affects the environment (Minkov et al., 2020). According to the Eco Label Index, the global directory of eco-labels, there are 456 ecolabels in 199 countries and 25 industry sectors per 22.09.2022 (Ecolabel Index, 2022). With the abundance of eco-labels, there have been many approaches to classify them. Throughout the literature, the categorization presented by The International Organization for Standardization (ISO) is commonly used (Golden, et al., 2010; Stø et al., 2005; Minkov, et al., 2020). The ISO categorization along with label-examples can be found in Appendix A.2.

The various eco-labels are focusing on different environmental issues. Climate change is one of the most prominent environmental issues we face today and taking climate action is a critical goal put on the agenda of The United Nations (SDG nr.13) (United Nations, 2022d). Commonly known to contribute to global warming and climate change is the greenhouse gas carbon dioxide (United Nations, n.d). According to UN Climate Change News, global-energy-related carbon dioxide levels were at their highest level ever in 2021 (United Nations, 2022e). Consequently, there is also a lot of focus on carbon dioxide, which has made a market for carbon footprint labels. The term "carbon footprint" has become widely used in media, by governments, and by the business world, reflecting a growing concern in the fight against the threat of global warming (Kimura, et al., 2010). A carbon footprint label informs consumers of the quantity of carbon dioxide equivalents released throughout a product's production, distribution, usage, and disposal (Thøgersen & Nielsen, 2016). Thus, carbon footprint labeling helps consumers to be informed about the carbon dioxide emissions from products and contribute to battling global warming (Kimura, et al., 2010).

2.3.1.4 Effectiveness of sustainability labels

The effectiveness of sustainability labels is found to be mixed. Sustainability labeling has been researched extensively in the last two decades, but conclusions haven't always been clear about its effectiveness in promoting sustainable consumption (Majer et al., 2022). Majer et al. (2022) carried out a systematic literature review where they investigated the effects of sustainability labeling on consumer perception and behavior. Mainly looking into food products, Majer et al. (2022) suggest that sustainability labels "do have overall positive effects on psychological and behavioral outcome variables". In particular, the study implies that labels influence attitudes, provide a purpose for consumers, boost willingness to pay, and, in fact, have the power to alter behavior.

However, other research indicates that knowledge and label understanding is an essential factor for the effectiveness of sustainability labels. Consumer confusion caused by label overload and knowledge gaps regarding both the general concept of sustainability and specific sustainability labels may restrict the use of sustainability labels (Comas Marti and Seifert, 2012, Grunert, 2011, Horne, 2009). Thøgersen (2005) found that consumers must be aware of the label, understand what it means, and be motivated to consider the information it represents when making decisions for an ecolabel to have an impact on their purchasing decisions (Thøgersen & Nielsen, 2016). Food manufacturers are therefore suggested to implement environmental sustainability labels along with efficient informational strategies to raise customer awareness (Aprile & Punzo, 2022). For an overview of additional success factors that are of relevance for the implementation of sustainability labels, see the table in Appendix A.3.

2.3.2 Free-form sustainability communication

In addition to employing eco-labels, appealing to the more cognitive side of the consumer, businesses tend to appeal to the emotional side through free-form communication concerning the sustainability of their products. For instance, they might give promises of ethically grown and traceable cocoa beans in chocolate that is "slave free" (Tonys Chocolonely, 2019) or that they distance themselves from unethical materials or ingredients (e.g. fashion brands becoming fur-free, see PETA, 2019), or that they are dedicated to developing "sustainable" collections or sub-brands (H&Ms "conscious collection", 2019). These are examples of free-form sustainability communications that seek to evoke emotional reactions in consumers.

This type of communication includes a lot of non-comparable environmental terminology (e.g. Caniato et al., 2012), and has a tendency of coming close to environmental advertising.

Instead of using specific and clear terminologies, claims are often vague promises of being "environmentally friendly" or "all-natural" (Delmas & Burbano, 2011). Consequently, consumers tend to be skeptical of the increasing amount of these ambiguous sustainability statements that appear to be purely utilized for the purpose of capitalization (Turunen & Halme, 2021).

2.3.3 Sustainability as a main business driver

In summary, the perceived sustainability of a product does not necessarily increase with the presence of sustainability labels nor of free-form communication (Turunen & Halme, 2021). However, there are measures that can increase the effectiveness of sustainability communication. According to Olsen & Boxenbaum (2009), those who appear as the most legitimate sustainable players are those who make sustainability a main business driver. This includes both external drivers (i.e. seeing sustainability as a tool to accomplish performance goals or to obey stakeholder expectations) and internal drivers (i.e., being self-motivated by a normative belief that the business should be sustainable) (Maignan and Ralston, 2002). If this normative approach is not present, sustainability tends to become an "add-on" strategy, not being a central part of the corporate brand identity (Stuart, 2011). This includes focusing on more peripheral issues (e.g., recycling paper) instead of looking at how relevant sustainability issues can be handled and integrated into the overall business strategy. However, if the company manages to improve existing processes by integrating the sustainability strategy into the overall business strategy, it could potentially increase product quality (Jørgensen & Pedersen, 2018) and be able to refer to specific sustainability measures - consequently appearing as more legitimate.

This is particularly relevant in terms of communicating sustainability to consumers that do not necessarily have a goal of simplifying their lifestyles through green consumerism. As for any other product innovation, all changes must offer a relative advantage. Not all consumers are willing to accept higher prices for "green products" unless there are observable benefits tied to the sustainability claim (Stuart, 2011). This implies that in addition to being clearer in the sustainability terminology, companies would benefit from also communicating the related benefits to the sustainability aspects, tying it to other core drivers for choice. This makes it relevant to address the branding literature, to see how companies can make sustainability a part of the brand's identity.

2.4 Branding

Brands play an important role in building long-term relationships between the company and the consumer. A successful brand manages to uniquely deliver some key benefits (i.e. symbolic, functional or experiential), that make important drivers for choice (Park et al., 1995). In this case, the benefits set to differentiate the brand (i.e., the brand concept) is well received and cognitively considered by the consumer, forming key associations to the brand elements (Park et al., 1995).

2.4.1 Brand elements

Brand elements are verbal or visual information that functions as tools that help identify and differentiate a brand (Kotler & Keller, 2009). Typical brand elements are brand names, logos and symbols, brand characters, slogans, and packaging. Brand elements serve as a key tool to build brand equity. According to Keller's (2001) Customer-based brand equity (CBBE) model, a strong brand can be built through a series of steps, each of which depends on the success of the previous one. The first step involves ensuring consumers can identify and associate the brand with a specific product category or need. Attaining the correct identity includes building brand awareness, which consists of the process of linking brand elements to certain associations in the consumer's memory – making them able to recognize or recall the brand in different user situations. This identification will give the consumers something to attach new information to, enabling them to build favorable, unique, and strong brand associations that differentiate the brand. Eventually, the understanding of the brand's usage and meaning can enable consumers to elicit positive brand feelings and judgment, and eventually build a strong relation to the brand (Keller, 2001).

There are different schools of thought in the advertising industry on what role brand elements should have. Some practitioners recommend a trivial role, claiming that salient brand elements signal that the message of the advertisement is of no interest to the audience (Aitchinson, 1999, p.61, Pieters & Wedel, 2004, Kover, 1995). Within the research community, however, it is clear agreement that the brand elements should have a salient role and be shown upfront the communications. A study by Pieters & Wedel (2004) shows that attention captured by salient brand elements will facilitate attention to other elements of the ad, such as the message, instead of what brand the ad is representing. Thus, the role assigned to the brand elements has a significant impact on the interpretation of the advertisement.

Having salient brand elements is especially important when the consumer has low motivation to process the message. The Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM) provides a structuring framework for persuasion that presents two routes of persuasion depending on the consumer's motivation and abilities: peripheral and central routes. Being on opposing ends of a continuum, they denote the probability of cognitive effort being used to process a message (Schumann et al., 2011). A person's elaboration likelihood will either be low or high depending on their abilities and motivation, which again will decide the route to which persuasion may take place (Petty & Cacioppo, 1983). To obtain the effects of brand elements during peripheral and passive processing (where motivation is low), it is a prerequisite to have salient exposure of brands. If this is not the case, the consumer will not be able to identify the sender, and the communication will not have any effect. Using the same prominent brand elements makes the consumer recall the brand rapidly, and positive associations are immediately triggered.

2.4.2 Positioning

The emotions and attitudes the consumer has towards a brand, places it in a certain position in the consumer's consciousness, where it is seen in relation to competing brands. As this is the perception of the consumer, it will not always be a match between the brand's desired position and the brand's actual position. Thus, it becomes essential to close this gap - changing the brand image, with current (possibly unwanted) consumer associations, to a desired position (Samuelsen et al., 2019). This refers to the process of brand positioning, i.e., clarifying which associations it is wanted for the consumer to have with the brand. If the brand positioning is effective, it serves to direct the marketing strategy by outlining the brand's core values, its unique selling proposition, how it differs from rival brands, and the reasons why customers should buy and consume it. This is essential, as positive differentiation is directly linked to profit and survival.

2.4.2.1. Target network model

Supphellen et al. (2014) have developed a model to clarify the target brand perception; *The target network model*. An exemplifying illustration based on graphics from the book "Markedsføring - verdibasert forventningsledelse" by Supphellen et al. (2014) is shown below.



Figure 1: Exemplifying illustration of a strategic brand positioning

An important step of the strategic positioning process is to ensure that the brand is placed in the correct category. The product category gives the consumer an idea of the basic needs the brand covers in a specific situation, and thus also what competing brands the brand is to be compared to. Thus, it will give access to a frame of reference for the consumer (Samuelsen et al., 2019). Ideally, the position should build on the most important drivers for choice in the category that the brand operates in (Supphellen et al., 2014). However, it is not sufficient to simply meet the general expectations tied to the product category. It also is necessary to create and realize expectations on *differentiated* value deliveries that separate the brand from competing brands.

To differentiate the brand, main drivers of choice must be defined. These should always be rooted in the company's strategic resources and be hard to copy (Supphellen et al., 2014, s. 401). The main drivers of choice make *primary associations* that should contain perceptions directly tied to the brand (Supphellen et al., 2014), and reflect the main drives of the overall category (Keller & Swaminathan, 2019). To provide further meaning to the drivers, *secondary associations* must be defined. For example, the primary association "high quality" could be supported with the secondary associations "rich in protein" and "unique production facilities". The combination of the primary and secondary associations is ideally unique for the specific brand and will make the brand stand out from competing brands (Keller, 1993).

The target associative network should consist of points of parity (POP) and points of differentiation (POD), which are the two most fundamental types of brand associations (Keller,

2012). The former (POP) refers to factors of the brand that are similar to competing brands. These are tied to the most basic needs in the category, which customers expect to be fulfilled by all brands in the specific category (Keller & Swaminathan, 2019). If the brand cannot deliver on these "must-haves" or does not perform at the same level as competing brands on delivering them, they will be excluded from being a valid alternative (Kannan, 2020). Thus, these are so-called "hygiene factors", meaning that they are essential for the brand to be included in the consumer's consideration set.

PODs refer to unique, favorable, and strong perceptions of a brand, that differentiates it from competitors (Webster & Keller, 2004), and thus make central motivational factors to choose the specific brand (Samuelsen et al., 2019). Differentiating factors are areas in which the brand performs considerably better than its competitors, or that the competitor does not offer at all. For the differentiating factors to be relevant, they must meet the needs of the target group. When customers' needs are identified and potential points of differentiation have been determined, the company must assess whether they have the strategic resources to deliver them (Supphellen, 2020). If that is not the case, the strategic resources must be evaluated in more detail to detect other points of differentiation that are more relevant. There should not be too many differentiating factors identified by a company (Kotler, 2005). This could be experienced as confusing by customers, in addition to not always being viable due to the limited resourced that most companies have (Khurram & Lunden, 2021).

2.4.3 Sustainable brand positioning

Sustainable branding refers to the activity of integrating perspectives on sustainability into the practices of brand management. This involves creating, maintaining, and projecting a brand that successfully offers sustainability benefits (Foroudi & Palazzo, 2021).

Due to the increased awareness of the damage that brands inflict on the environment (Deloitte, 2002), and consumers' growing appetite for sustainable products, sustainable branding is an unavoidable trend that companies should follow (Chen, 2010). Brands that are not able to communicate their sustainability will risk losing brand equity (Supphellen, 2020; Harjoto & Salas, 2016). Yet, the brands that do communicate their efforts but fail to do so in a trustworthy manner risk being suspected of performing *greenwashing*. This term refers to a process of providing misleading marketing, conveying a false impression that the company is doing more

for the environment than it truly is (TerraChoice Environmental Marketing, 2007). If this is the case, the brand equity will be highly vulnerable, as it paints the brand as dishonest. However, brands that manage to place sustainability into their brand position in a clear and trustworthy way can differentiate themselves positively and strengthen their brand equity (Supphellen, 2020; Gupta et al., 2013; Wang, 2017). In addition, a clear sustainable brand identity would require less cognitive reflections of the consumer to act green, making it easier for the consumer to take sustainable actions (See Keller, 2008).

Even though companies tend to increase their focus on sustainability, the effect on consumers could still be questioned due to the mentioned attitude-behavior gap. This gap indicates that the benefits of sustainability by itself are not enough to drive the everyday consumer to a sustainable choice. Although some researchers state that the gap can be closed through comprehensive, yet simple information of the products' sustainability features (Turunen & Halme, 2011), one must acknowledge that sustainability only makes one of many factors affecting how the consumer perceives the brand. Regardless of the increased awareness of sustainable choices and consumerism, sustainability might not be the primary driver of choice compared to other factors related to the brand. Therefore, it is necessary to integrate sustainability into the brand position (Supphellen, 2020). This refers to combining sustainability benefits with other drivers that are important for purchase so that they reinforce each other and strengthen the total brand. Ideally, this will increase both the overall judgments of the brand and the perceived greenness of the brand (as sustainability aspects will make more sense to the consumer and thus become easier to recall) (Keller & Swaminathan, 2019). In other words, integrating sustainability into the brand position can increase the overall reliability and attractiveness of the brand.

If sustainability is not clearly integrated into the brand positioning, it will become a sub-topic that is less prioritized and that is not strategically relevant in the daily brand building (Supphellen, 2020). This is typically the case if the positioning is narrow and sets focus on a certain type of communication message (e.g., the premium quality taste experience in Nespresso) – giving no room for the sustainability drivers. Another reason why sustainability tends to be left out from the brand position is incorrect measures of how sustainability effects consumer preference and choice. Typically, it is often the direct effect of the sustainability-features that are measured. This may lead to incorrect conclusions that sustainability is of low importance. However, sustainability often has an *indirect* effect on consumer

preferences/choice, when communicated through other attributes. For example, the sustainability trait can amplify other traits such as healthiness, quality, taste, etc., which further affects purchase intention (Cho & Baskin, 2019). As this is overlooked by many companies, there are plenty of incorrect assessments of whether sustainability should be a part of the brand positioning.

In most cases, sustainability is included in the positioning as an attribute that is of importance, but not a decisive factor. This implies that sustainability tends to be a POP. However, competition can be strengthened if sustainability is managed to be made a valued, clear, and differentiated part of the brand (POD), in *combination* with other factors av importance for the target group (Supphellen, 2020).

The role sustainability should play in the brand positioning will depend on different factors and must be adjusted to the brand and market situation. In case of uncertainty around linking sustainability to other drivers or to take an individual role, the rule should be to always search for links and interactions with other associations. This will give the sustainability dimension more value (Supphellen, 2020). The Norwegian vegan cooking book "En skikkelig digg kokebok" is an example of how sustainability can be linked to core benefits of providing tasteful food. This link to central drivers is assumed to increase purchase intention significantly more than a rational approach of why one should eat vegan food due to environmental factors.

2.5 Sustainability across product categories

Over the past years, brands have been introducing organic food products on the market (Willer et al., 2018). As organic food includes neither synthetic fertilizer nor pesticides, it is significantly more sustainable than normal food production (Zimmerman, 2020). Thus, introducing new organic food products has been a way for brands to take on a more sustainable position. However, studies show that only some of the organic product introductions have benefitted from the trend. According to Schäufele & Janssen (2021), the product categories that are the most successful on the organic market are vegetables, milk, and eggs, while other product categories such as meat, sweets, cheese, and frozen food remain to be niche categories, having a low share in the organic food market (Schäufele & Janssen, 2021). This corresponds to the results from a global consumer survey in the UK, asking consumers what food they recall purchasing that was sustainable/eco-friendly. Most participants answered with fruit and

vegetables (25%), followed by dairy products (15%), tea (15%), and fish (13%), whereas ready-made meals (7%), snacks (7%), and frozen food (6%) were at the bottom of the listed product types (Kunst, 2021). When evaluating actual footprints in terms of levels of carbon, water, and nitrogen per kg product type, they were the lowest for fruit and vegetables, nuts, pulses, wheat, etc., and the highest for meat products. Milk, fish, and eggs were somewhere in between, placed right behind the various meat products (Leach, et al., 2016).

2.5.1 The target group of eco-friendly product categories

The consumers that typically purchase eco-friendly food products are those who are healthand environmentally conscious – making a relatively small target group, typically having low consumption levels within the less sustainable product categories (i.e. sweets, processed foods, meat, cheese). The focus on satisfying the needs of this narrow target group (health- and environmental benefits) makes it hard to make organic food products appealing for a broader group of people. These broader group is less likely to accept the trade-offs tied to choosing green products (i.e., lower quality, higher prices etc.), and be unwilling to choose green products that do not deliver on important criteriums tied to their own values (Olsen & Ougland, 2021).

2.5.2 The attitude-behavior gap for the various food categories

Studies show that the attitude-behavior gap for green products is significantly bigger for less successful organic categories than for the successful ones. As consumers that are less healthand environmentally conscious tend to consume a higher level of processed foods (Olsen & Ougland, 2021), they tend to be relatively convenience-oriented – seeking to ease their consumption through convenient products like frozen food, instant gravy, canned food, etc. Consumers with such an orientation have been shown to have low organic budget shares, as they are driven by the ease-of-use rather than high quality (Schäufele & Janssen, 2021). The convenience factor did not affect the attitudes toward organic products negatively, but it did have a significant negative impact on purchase behavior. This is because convenience-oriented consumers typically are less willing to invest excessive search costs, which further reasons for the lack of organic food in convenience-product-categories. In contrast to the convenience-oriented consumers, the more enjoyment- and quality-conscious consumers are typically less price sensitive. However, they tend to sense that the healthiness and/or adjusted production methods tied to organic alternatives goes on behalf of the pleasure of consumption and/or quality of the product (Schäufele & Janssen, 2021). This also explains why sweets and more luxurious types of cheese/meat etc. perform less successfully in the organic product range.

Overall, in the food choice context, sustainability competes with other preferences, such as convenience, healthfulness and sensory quality, meaning that positive attitude to sustainability does not necessarily translate to utilizing available sustainability information when being in a purchase situation (Grunert et al., 2014).

2.5.3 Sustainability in vice and virtue product categories

Studies show that there are some product types that have more to benefit from being introduced as green than others. According to Olsen et al. (2014), any product category will contain a continuum of virtue and vice attributes. Categories with a high share of virtue attributes hold products that tend to be more healthful, offering long-term benefits, while categories containing a high share of vice attributes include products that deliver instant gratification and typically are less healthful (Wertenbroch, 1998). Their study shows that products in the latter category will have more to gain from introducing new green products compared to brands operating in a category that already is seen as healthful, offering positive consequences. This can be explained by the consumers' existing brand attitudes.

The consumers attitudes reflect their beliefs towards an object – an evaluation that could be positive and or negative (Fishbein A. &., 1980). When consumers are presented to new information that is redundant, the information will not have as strong an influence on the evaluation of the object (Eagly & Chaiken, 1993). As green and virtue products both focus on health and long-term benefits, the effect of introducing green product claims in such "high virtue" product categories will not be as effectful as it is likely to be absorbed by the existing evaluations of the brand. For vice product categories that are seen as less healthful and leading to negative long-term consequences, green new product introductions will introduce new information that will counterbalance the negative concerns and further improve the overall evaluation of the brand, and thus the brand attitudes (Olsen et al., 2014). This is, however, given that the sustainability elements that are introduced do not deviate from the brand identity (Keller & Swaminathan, 2019).

2.5.4 Strength-related vs gentleness-related product attributes

According to Luchs et al. (2010), product sustainability affects consumer preferences differently depending on whether the product has strength-related attributes (strong, effective, tough, powerful, getting the job done) and gentleness-related attributes (mild, healthy, good for children, safe). For products containing the latter attributes, sustainability enhances product preference, while for products containing strength-related attributes, the consumer tends to prefer less sustainable alternatives. The reason for this is that they expect the product functionality to weaken, losing its strength. Seo et al., (2016) found that examples of products ranking high in having gentleness-related attributes are dairy products like yogurt (typically having associations of being mild and safe, often appealing to children). Further, their study found that products aimed at providing energy, i.e., energy drinks (typically having associations to being effective, powerful) rank high in strength-related attributes.

Skard et al., (2019) found that this liability effect was removed when consumers were performing more cognitively demanding tasks. This refers to making them reflect over what implication the green characteristic has for the product's functional quality. As an example, Skard et al. (2019) suggest informing consumers that core attributes of the product are the same as before.

3. Model and hypotheses

This chapter introduces the conceptual model for the study in addition to three hypotheses based on the literature review. The hypotheses will form the foundation of the research project.

3.1 Conceptual model

The objective of this study is to gain insight into what messages are the most effective when launching a sustainability label, in terms of strengthening the product attitude and the perceived sustainability of the product. Furthermore, the study aims to investigate if the sustainability of product categories and the consumers perceived importance of sustainability will moderate this relationship. The figure below (fig. 2) demonstrates the conceptual model that sets the guidelines for the master's thesis and functions as the foundation for the research.



Figure 2: Conceptual model

The independent variable in the conceptual model is the type of *sustainability message*, which is expected to cause the change to the dependent variables (Saunders et al., 2012). For this study, the sustainability message is either integrated into the brand position– and thereby links sustainability to a driver for choice or presented separately - not linked to a driver for choice.

Further, the conceptual model's two moderating variables are: *sustainability of product category*, including product categories of low, medium, and high levels of sustainability, and *perceived importance of sustainability*, including measures on the participant's individual opinions of sustainability efforts.

Moreover, the conceptual model encompasses two dependent variables. The first dependent variable is *product attitude*. Product attitude is found to be of vital importance to manufacturers (Herpen & Hooge, 2019). According to previous research, the term attitude is used to refer to an observer's overall evaluation of persons, objects, and issues (Lee, 2008). Product attitude in this thesis, therefore, represents the participant's overall evaluation of the object/product. The second dependent variable is *perceived sustainability*, which includes various measures of how sustainable the participants perceive the product.

3.2 H1: Sustainability linked to a driver for choice

Although sustainability labels "do have overall positive effects on psychological and behavioral outcome variables" (Majer et al., 2022), issues tied to consumer awareness and understanding are limiting the effectiveness of the label usage. To overcome these issues, food manufacturers are encouraged to launch sustainability labels along with informational strategies – meaning that they could benefit from being launched as complementary to free-form sustainability communication. However, neither the presence of sustainability labels nor free-form communication does necessarily succeed in persuading the average consumer to make a sustainable choice (Turunen & Halme, 2021).

Several studies present evidence of a gap between consumers' expressed attitudes and actual purchasing behavior for sustainable goods, showing that obstacles to sustainable consumption still have a significant influence on a lot of consumer choices (Skard et al., 2019). According to the branding literature, this could be because sustainability is just one of many factors that affect how consumers perceive the brand. This implies that, despite increased awareness of sustainable choices and consumerism, sustainability may not be the primary influence of brand choice (Supphellen, 2020). It is, therefore, questionable how much of a significantly positive effect sustainability communication has when it is presented as a separate attribute. We, therefore, expect that brands can achieve more positive product evaluations and be perceived as more sustainable when sustainability is integrated into the brand positioning, compared to being a separate attribute. Our first hypothesizes is, therefore:

H1-A: *When sustainability is linked to a driver for choice, it has a greater positive effect on product attitude than when sustainability is presented as a separate attribute.*

H1-B: When sustainability is linked to a driver for choice, it has a greater positive effect on the perceived sustainability than when sustainability is presented as a separate attribute.

3.3 H2: Sustainability of product category as a moderator

The literature shows that products that are not associated with being healthful and providing more long-term benefits - i.e. less sustainable food products like meat, frozen/canned/processed food, snacks etc. (Schäufele & Janssen, 2021), will have more to benefit from being introduced as green compared to products that are associated with such traits. This is because the new, green elements will counterbalance the negative concerns and eventually improve the overall evaluation of the brand, compared to being perceived as redundant (Olsen et al., 2014). Note that this is under the assumption that the introduced sustainability elements is not in conflict with the existing brand identity (Keller & Swaminathan, 2019).

When the consumer believes that there is a trade-off tied to green products, implying that the functionality of main drivers is reduced, the products will not benefit from being introduced as green. For gentleness-related products (being mild, healthy, safe), sustainability is expected to enhance product performance. Yet, for strength-related products, the consumer is likely to expect reduced functionality (Luchs et al., 2010). Based on the ranking of other food products, we assume that this is the case for several of the less sustainable products (e.g. meat, alcohol, convenient food), as they fit the description of being heavy, satiating, and typically valued for being tough, effective, and getting the job done (Seo et al., 2016).

As the literature presented, this liability effect is removed when consumers face a cognitively more demanding task (Skard et al., 2019). If companies successfully can integrate sustainability into their brand positioning, consumers are more likely to reflect on the implication of the green characteristics in terms of how it strengthens other core drivers (as opposed to weakening them). This leads us back to the literature of Olsen et al. (2014). Given that the integration of the sustainability message creates a link between the green characteristics and the product functionality, products that initially are seen as less healthful are expected to benefit more from gaining new green attributes, as it provides an additional factor – strengthening already existing core benefits. Thus, we propose the following hypothesizes:

H2-A: The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on product attitude

is moderated by the sustainability of the product category. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for less sustainable products.

H2-B: The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on perceived sustainability is moderated by the sustainability of the product category. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for less sustainable products.

3.4 H3: Perceived importance of sustainability as a moderator

The literature review suggests that the target groups of eco-friendly food (health and environmentally conscious consumers) typically are more likely to accept the tradeoffs tied to green consumerism (i.e., higher price levels, taste, reduced functionality etc.) than the broader target group (the less health- and environmentally conscious consumers) (Olsen & Ougland, 2021). This implies that the target group is more likely to accept a sustainability claim on its own, while the broader target group has a greater need to be ensured that the claimed green product also delivers on important criteriums (Olsen & Ougland, 2021).

Therefore, we have reason to believe that linking sustainability to key drivers for choice will make the product more attractive among people who do not value sustainability claims on its own and thus increase their product attitude. Furthermore, when sustainability in isolation is not that important to people, we believe that they will appreciate that sustainability reinforces a driver that is important to them, and thus be more aware of the sustainability of the product when the message is tied to a key driver. Thus, we suggest the following hypothesis:

H3-A: The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on product attitude is moderated by the perceived importance of sustainability. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for individuals who are less concerned with sustainability

H3-B: The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on perceived sustainability is moderated by the perceived importance of sustainability. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for individuals who are less concerned with sustainability.

4. Methodology

This chapter will present the methodological approach for the research project. The book *Research Methods for Business Students* by Saunders et al. (2012) will function as the primary source for the chapter, supplemented by other literature. Initially, the research design will be presented, followed by a description of the data collection, sampling, and preparation for data analysis. Moreover, the choice of product categories to include in the experiment, questionnaire, measures, and reliability of the construct will be discussed.

4.1 Research design

The research design is the framework of techniques and research methods chosen to conduct the study (Saunders et al., 2012, 2016). As the hypotheses concern cause-effect, an experimental research design is needed. To ensure high internal validity, the experiment is performed through a questionnaire, ensuring quantitative data from a large population sample.

Overall, the research is of an explanatory nature, focusing on explaining the relationship between messages and product attitude/perceived sustainability. Further, it has a deductive approach, as the hypotheses are derived from existing literature, and as the research will collect primary data to answer them.

4.1.1 Design Description

For this study, a 2x3 between-subjects-factorial experimental design will be adapted. In a between-subjects design, experimental results can be compared between experimental and control groups, making it suitable for this study (Saunders et al., 2012). The independent variables in the between-subjects-design are the sustainability message (label communicated separately vs linked to driver for choice) and the sustainability level of product category (high/medium/low). The independent variables will be manipulated to test the combined effect on product attitude and perceived sustainability. Due to the 2x3 design, it is necessary to conduct the experiment on 6 different participant groups. Each sample group was exposed to contrived website extracts showcasing different communication messages together with the sustainability label.

Moreover, it is essential to establish a time horizon for the study in the research design (Saunders et al., 2012). Firstly, this is a master thesis, written over approximately four months

(20. August - 20. December), which limits the data collection period. Second, the study is assumed to be representative of a specific point in time. The dependent variables being measured (i.e. product attitude and perceived sustainability) can change over time due to other factors (i.e., user experiences, new information, campaigns). Due to these time constraints, a cross-sectional time horizon is considered appropriate for this study. Cross-sectorial studies is the study of a particular phenomenon at a particular time (Saunders et al., 2012).

The table below (table 2) shows the 2x3 between-subjects-factorial experimental design, for more detailed illustrations, see Appendix B.



Table 2: Between-subjects Factorial Design

4.2 Data collection and procedure

The objective of the study was to examine the relationship among the selected variables in detail. We were unable to locate other research on the effect on linking sustainability to main drivers of choice in the context of launching sustainability labels. Therefore, we based the

research on primary data, i.e., firsthand data, explicitly collected for the purpose of the research (Saunders et al., 2016).

To collect the data, we used a web-based questionnaire. This method is well suited to collect quantitative data from a large sample size, being the case for a between-subject design. Furthermore, questionnaires are best suited for standardized and close-ended questions that allow confronting all respondents with an identical approach (Saunders et al., 2016; Robson, 2011). Therefore, questionnaires work particularly well for explanatory research. Additionally, using a web-based questionnaire allows for self-completion among the respondents, which is beneficial when having time- and resource constraints (Saunders et al., 2016).

The respective questionnaire was outlined, programmed, and distributed by Norstat, the leading data collector in Northern Europe for market research and owner of the most extensive consumer panel in Norway, Norstatpanel. By outsourcing the questionnaire through Norstat, we quickly reached a large population and generated robust findings (Brewer, 2000).

The questionnaire included various sections (Appendix B). To begin with, the participants were given a brief introduction to the questionnaire. Then, the respondents were assigned to one of six groups where they were shown a brand's webpage with a product description for a particular product. Each product description had an illustration showing the product and the attached sustainability label. In the textual message, sustainability was either linked to another major driver for choice (taste) or presented as a separate attribute (good for the environment. The respondents were asked to review the communication carefully as it made the base for the following questions. The introductory questions included basic demographic questions (i.e. gender, age, and region), before moving on to questions concerning attitude towards the product, intention to buy the product, and the perceived sustainability of the specific product and the product category in general. Further, the questionnaire addresses the respondent's perceived importance of sustainability and how often they normally purchase products in the product category. In the final question, the sustainability label is specifically addressed in terms of the label usage is perceived.

The questionnaire was designed to be completed in a time frame of 3 minutes, as a long duration increases the likelihood of boredom, inattention, fatigue, and thereby also the mortality rate.

Additionally, only close-ended questions were included in the questionnaire. This makes it easier to structure the data, which is helpful for data analysis (Saunders et al., 2016).

A pilot test of the questionnaire was carried out prior to its release to gather input on its functionality, clarity, and comprehensiveness as well as any ambiguities or errors (Saunders et al., 2016; Bell, 2014). After adjusting the questionnaire for errors, the questionnaire was approved for distribution.

4.3 Sampling and preparation for data analysis

For this study, a probability sampling was used to collect the data. This is often associated with experiment- and survey research strategies, where each subject of the population is given an equivalent chance of being selected as a representative sample. In probability sampling, a randomization technique is used. This implies that the representatives are chosen to be a part of the sample randomly, where the probabilities of selection are fixed and known. Thus, the results that are generated are non-biased, and the sample is better suited to represent the population compared to a non-probability sampling where subjects are chosen arbitrarily (Saunders et al., 2016).

When using probability sampling, it is crucial that the sample size is sufficient to provide the required level of confidence in the data (Saunders et al., 2016). Also, between-subject designs typically require sizeable samples compared to within-subject designs to achieve credibility (Charness et al., 2012). Taking the project scope into consideration, a sample size of 40 participants per group was considered sufficient, which implies a total of 240 (6x40) valid replies. As the sampling was outsourced, the total number of respondents that finished the full scope of the questionnaire was fixed to correspond with the planned sample size. No participants were excluded, as no outliers nor careless respondents were detected.

The sample included 240 adult individuals (above the age of 18) among the Norwegian population, distributed between the country's regions. The sample was divided between 54,6% (131) men and 43,8% (105) women, that was aged 18-85 years ($M_{age} = 50,39$), from various regions ($n_{NordNorge} = 24$, $n_{Midt-Norge} = 33$, $n_{Vestlandet} = 47$, $n_{\emptyset stlandet} = 74$, $n_{\emptyset stlandet} = 20$, $n_{0slo} = 41$). The population was divided into six groups, being exposed to a message that either did or did not link sustainability to main drivers for choice. The groups

were further divided across three different product categories, which based on a pre-test were assumed to have three levels of perceived sustainability (low/medium/high).

4.4 Choice of stimuli

4.4.1 Sustainability Label

A sustainability label was present throughout all the experiments. As we believe that less credible labels could benefit more from providing consumers with additional sustainability communication, we chose a privately owned label as the label-stimuli. These tend to be seen as less credible compared to third-party-verified labels (Atkinson and Rosental, 2014). Due to our collaboration with Orkla, the relatively newly launched sustainability label, Klodemerket, became a natural choice. Klodemerket (translated into *The*



Figure 3: Sustainability label: Klodemerket / The globe label (Toro,2022)

Globe Label), is a carbon footprint label launched in 2020. Being launched by Orkla, it is a company lead standard, where the company Orkla is the one who sets the standards and is the lead stakeholder (c.f. table 1).

Products that entail Klodemerket leave a relatively "low carbon footprint" in the world (Toro, 2022). Orkla defines the meal as having a "low" carbon footprint if the emissions are 2,1 kg Co2 in total (0,8 kg Co2 per portion), compared to today's average carbon emission of a dinner, which is 4,2 kg Co2 in total (1,6 kg Co2 per portion) (Toro, 2022). The goal is to make it simpler for consumers to select meals that are more climate-friendly so that they may be confident that the environment is considered.

4.4.2 Product category

The product category stimuli chosen to represent various levels of sustainability were based on a pre-test using a 1-10 Likert scale, asking the respondents how sustainable they perceived the product categories, where 1=unsustainable and 10=sustainable. Based on the literature on sustainability levels across product categories, several product categories were included in the pretest. The results showed three categories that stood out with regard to different levels of sustainability: frozen pizza (low), instant soup (medium), and granola (high). The perceived sustainability of these categories was tested using a convenience sample of 26 respondents. The mean scores were clearly different across categories: Frozen pizza: 3.81; Instant soup:
4.85; Granola: 6.73. Wilk's Lamda for the repeated measures analysis was .430 and highly significant (F=15, 918; 0=.001). All contrasts were also significant (all p's < .01).

As the thesis is written in collaboration with Orkla, food brands from the Orkla group were prioritized to represent the three product categories. The brand Grandiosa was set to represent frozen pizza, Toro was set to represent instant soup, and BareBra was set to represent granola. These are all well-known Norwegian food brands, with a high degree of brand recognition. When referring to the selected product stimulus throughout the thesis, brand names and the associated product category will be mentioned.

4.4.3 Communications

Six stimuli were developed in collaboration with supervisor Magne Supphellen (See 4.1). For each of the three product categories, respondents were exposed to an illustration of a contrived webpage showcasing a product description. The webpage was designed to match the original, having salient brand elements to facilitate attention to the message instead of what brand or product the website represented. The sustainability label was present for all groups, and the associated communication varied based on whether sustainability was linked to a key driver for choice or not. As taste is a significant driver in all food products, this was the chosen driver for all product categories. To ensure that all groups are subject to the same external influences, making the intervention the only explanation for changes in the DV (Saunders et al., 2016), the stimuli were set to be as similar as possible. The communications only variated with the brand name and statements of providing good taste (main driver) vs being good for the environment (separate attribute).

4.5 Questionnaire and measurements

The questions in the survey were carefully selected and analyzed by the authors. Additionally, the supervisor provided feedback on the questions included (Appendix B), where some adjustments and additional questions were added. The final questionnaire contained 18 questions and was sent to Norstat for programming and distribution to respondents.

The questionnaire was separated into three parts consisting of (1) demographic questions, (2) stimuli exposure, and (3) personal opinions. First, to gain information about the respondent, the respondents received three demographic questions regarding age, gender, and location

(region). Second, the respondent received the illustration of the product description placed on the brand's webpage. As mentioned, due to the 2x3 design, the respondents were separated into six respondent groups, receiving six different illustrations. Finally, for the central part of the questionnaire, the respondent received opinion questions linked to the communication they had been exposed to, as well as questions regarding their own perceived importance of sustainability.

The questionnaire mainly involved Likert-style rating questions, which is a standard tool for collecting opinion data (Saunders et al., 2012). The respondent was asked to which extent they agree or disagree with a statement on a unipolar 7-point Likert scale, where 1= Fully disagree and 7= Fully agree (Saunders et al., 2012). However, one question (Q6), in addition to demography questions (Q1, Q2, and Q3) were category questions, allowing respondents to select an answer they find suitable from a list of options (See Appendix B).

Since the respondents were Norwegian, the survey and questions were proposed in the Norwegian language. The questions will however be translated into English in the following chapters, in accordance with recommendations from Saunders et al. 2012. The questions can be found in their original language in Appendix B.

4.5.1 Dependent variable

Product attitude

To test the respondents' attitude to the product stimuli, the questionnaire included three questions measured on a 7-point Likert scale. The questions followed the guidelines of Sternthal et al (1994) and are adapted from questions utilized by Lee et al. (2008). The questions covered statements regarding product liking, and the product's perceived goodness and temptingness.

I like the product that was shown This is a good product This product is tempting

Perceived product sustainability

Moreover, to measure the effects of perceived sustainability of the product category, we included four questions concerning both environmental and social sustainability aspects. Regarding the questions related to the environment, this study adopted questions from Chen and Chang (2012), that were altered to fit the study. For the questions regarding social sustainability, questions by Kim et al. (2015) were adapted and utilized in the questionnaire.

This product is good for the environment This product helps to reduce climate problems This product contributes to more social sustainability This product is socially responsible

4.5.2 Independent variable

Message

The independent variable of the study is the message of the sustainability communication, shown in the contrived product description. The message was manipulated to either be linked to the key driver "good taste" or presented as a separate attribute, not linked to a major driver; "good for the environment".

4.5.3 Moderating variable

The first variable assumed to have a moderating effect was the product category. This variable was manipulated based on a pretest (cf. 4.4.2) that showed significant differences (p<.05) in perceived sustainability for the product categories frozen pizza (low), instant soup (medium), and granola (high).

Furthermore, the respondent's perceived importance of sustainability was assumed to have a moderating effect. The respondents were therefore faced with three statements on their thoughts about climate and environment, sustainability goals, and the society's focus on sustainability. This study was inspired by questions from Newton et al. (2015), regarding environmental concern. However, the questions have been altered to cover sustainability concerns in general.

Climate and environment issues concern me

The sustainability goals are important to me There is far too much talk about sustainability

4.5.4 Additional and control variables

Purchase intention

The respondent's intention to use the product is measured by asking them to take a stand on the likelihood that they would buy the product, or *consider* buying the product, within the next weeks.

It is likely that I will consider purchasing this product within the next few weeks. It is likely that I will purchase this product within the next few weeks.

Evaluation of label usage

To measure if the communication enhances the usage of the selected sustainability label (Klodemerket), the respondents were instructed to assess how well they perceive the label usage for the specific brand.

It is good that Grandiosa / Toro / BareBra uses Klodemerket Perceived sustainability of the product category

To ensure that the chosen product category stimulus was categorized correctly and was significantly different as found in the pretest, statements regarding the perceived sustainability of the product category were included in the questionnaire.

My view is that the frozen pizza/instant soup/granola category is generally sustainable.

Usage of product

To investigate the personal relationship the participant has to the product, questions regarding usage of the product were included. This was assessed through a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1=weekly to 5=never.

How often do you use the type of products within this product category of frozen pizza/granola/instant soup?

Demography

Finally, being a standard practice in most research (Saunders et al., 2016; Tumasjan & Braun, 2012), socio-demographic data was collected.

What gender do you identify with? What is your age? In what region are you based?

4.6. Reliability of construct

For the purpose of the study, several index variables were made by aggregating multiple variables that were aimed at measuring the same construct. For variables having numerical scoring scales pulling in a negative direction, the score scale was reversed to ensure that all aggregated variables pulled in the same direction. Indexes were made for the dependent variables' *product attitude* and *perceived product sustainability* (in addition to separate indexes for social and environmental sustainability), for the moderating variable *perceived importance of sustainability*, and for the additional variable *purchase intention* (c.f. 4.5.). When generating indexed variables, reliability concerns are important to address. Therefore, to ensure that the measures depict consistency, reliability measures were carried out (Saunders et al., 2016).

Cronbach's Alpha is a statistical practice that is frequently used to assess "the consistency of responses across a set of questions (scale items) designed together to measure a particular concept (scale)" (Saunders et al., 2016, p. 714). The Cronbach's Alpha ranges between 0 and 1, whereby values of $\alpha = 0.7$ or above indicates an internal consistency of the set of variables (Saunders et al., 2016).

Table 3 include the indexed variables together with their corresponding Cronbach's alpha. The results lead to the conclusion that these dimensions are reliable, as $\alpha \ge 0.7$. This was also the case when splitting the data based on product categories (See appendix C8).

Indexed variable	Cronbach's Alpha	Number of Items
Product attitude	0.931	3
Perceived product sustainability (in total)	0.923	4
- Perceived social sustainability	0.906	2

- Perceived environmental sustainability	0.870	2
Perceived importance of sustainability	0.86	3
Purchase intention	0.943	2

Table 3: Reliability of construct

4.7 Descriptive Statistics

Table 4 presents means and standard deviations from the descriptive statistics. The complete model with information on more detailed descriptions across all variables can be found in Appendix C1.

Message	Product C	ategory	Product Attitude	Sum Perceived Sustainability	Perceived environmental sustainability	Perceived social sustainability	Perceived Importance of Sustainability	Purchase Intention	Evaluation of label use	Purchase frequency
Net interested	Constinue	Mary					•			1 0
Not integrated	Grandiosa	Mean	3.9167	3.5250	3.6875	3.3625	4.8000	2.9000	4.63	3.1000
		Std. Deviation	1.40967	1.19936	1.24904	1.29093	1.46137	1.67638	1.644	1.19400
	Toro	Mean	3.8417	3.8000	4.0125	3.5875	5.0000	3.3000	4.75	2.4750
		Std. Deviation	1.59948	1.62729	1.73755	1.65981	1.67093	1.98003	1.836	1.06187
	BareBra	Mean	3.9000	3.6688	3.9125	3.4250	4.3167	2.7250	4.65	2.7250
		Std. Deviation	1.34652	1.06727	1.18693	1.16877	1.72950	1.59707	1.594	1.44980
Integrated	Grandiosa	Mean	4.1583	4.0125	4.0625	3.9625	4.5583	3.4125	4.72	2.9750
		Std. Deviation	1.47145	1.44886	1.45085	1.53751	1.80438	1.69421	1.320	.99968
	Toro	Mean	3.8417	3.6938	3.8500	3.5375	4.5000	2.5875	4.50	2.5250
		Std. Deviation	1.41821	1.36754	1.48151	1.43396	1.30308	1.44065	2.025	.96044
	BareBra	Mean	4.2167	4.3188	4.4750	4.1625	5.0917	2.8000	5.10	2.4750
		Std. Deviation	1.60048	1.47630	1.61702	1.44288	1.44803	1.90748	1.614	1.35850

Table 4: Descriptive statistics

The descriptive statistics indicate that there are differences between the message conditions. While the mean score across all variables is higher for the integrated sustainability message among those exposed to Grandiosa (frozen pizza), and BareBra (granola), the results are the opposite or show no difference across variables for those exposed to Toro (instant soup).

In specific, the overall perceived sustainability (environmental and social) scores higher for the integrated sustainability message across the product categories of low and high levels of sustainability, respectively Grandiosa (frozen pizza) and BareBra (Granola). The opposite is shown for the product of medium sustainability, Toro (instant soup). However, the difference between mean scores linked to each message type is considerably smaller for the latter category. Furthermore, respondents across all product categories exposed to the integrated sustainability message report a higher or equal (Toro, instant soup) product attitude compared to the group exposed to the stand-alone message. The observed values regarding purchase intention also show a higher mean score for the integrated sustainability message for Grandiosa

(frozen pizza) and BareBra (granola). Yet, for the Toro (instant soup), the purchase intention is noticeably higher among those exposed to the stand-alone message. Moreover, the evaluation of label usage on average is positive under all conditions, and especially under the condition of the most sustainable product category, BareBra (granola). Regarding the respondent's perceived importance of sustainability, we observe an overall high concern for sustainability.

A Pearson's correlation matrix was created to assess the strength of the relationship between the variables. Table 5 presents the correlation matrix for the complete sample, while correlation matrixes for selected foci are places in the appendices (cf. Appendix C1.4, C1.5, C1.6)

Overall, there are three factors that appear to be relatively strongly correlated with the dependent variable *Sum Perceived Sustainability: Product Attitude* (R=.58, p<.001) and *Purchase Intention* (R=.438, p<.001), which is in line with expectations based on the literature review concerning green consumerism (cf. Chapter 2.2), and the *Evaluation of Label Usage* (R=.669, p<.001). Additionally, this dependent variable is also observed to have a relatively weak positive correlation to *Perceived importance of Sustainability* (R=.267, p<.001), as well as to *Purchase Frequency* (R=.173, p=.0072). Furthermore, the dependent variable has a weak positive correlation (R=.124) to the independent variable *Message*, being significant on a marginal level (p=.0548). Looking at the correlation matrixes for each foci (Appendix C1.4, C1.5, C1.6), there is a weak positive, and significant, correlation to *Message* for BareBra, being in the product category perceived as the most sustainable, but none of the other foci. For Grandiosa, however, being in the least sustainable product category, there is a weak positive correlation (R=.182) being marginally significant on a p<0.1 level (p=0.105).

Looking at the dependent variable *Product attitude*, a strong positive correlation is observed to *Purchase Intention* (R=.720, p<.001), which is expected. Furthermore, there is a weak positive correlation to multiple factors: *Perceived importance of sustainability* (R=.113, p=.004), *Purchase Frequency* (R=.397, p<.001) and *Evaluation of label usage* (R=.309, p<.001). Overall, the variable does not appear to have a strong or significant correlation to *Message*, which is contrary to our expectations. This is the case also when looking at the correlation matrixes for each foci.

		Age	Gender	Product Category	Message	Product Attitude	Perceived Sustainability of Product Category	Sum Perceived Sustainability	Perceived environmental sustainability	Perceived social sustainability	Perceived Importance of Sustainability	Purchase Intention	Purchase frequency	Evaluation of label use
Age	Pearson Correlation													
Gender	Pearson Correlation	.085												
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.190												
Product Category	Pearson Correlation	.019	.051											
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.774	.429											
Message	Pearson Correlation	.048	.075	.000										
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.461	.244	1.000										
Product Attitude	Pearson Correlation	033	.075	.006	.063									
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.608	.248	.929	.328									
Perceived Sustainability of	Pearson Correlation	.055	062	.150*	061	.468**								
Product Category	Sig. (2-tailed)	.395	.338	.020	.344	<.001								
Sum Perceived	Pearson Correlation	068	.041	.066	.124	.581**	.527**							
Sustainability	Sig. (2-tailed)	.294	.529	.306	.055	<.001	<.001							
Perceived environmental	Pearson Correlation	056	.026	.089	.088	.526**	.510**	.952**						
sustainability	Sig. (2-tailed)	.387	.692	.171	.174	<.001	<.001	<.001						
Perceived social	Pearson Correlation	073	.052	.037	.149*	.580**	.492**	.950**	.809**					
sustainability	Sig. (2-tailed)	.257	.420	.567	.021	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001					
Perceived Importance of	Pearson Correlation	051	.251**	.006	.004	.133*	.048	.267**	.255**	.252**				
Sustainability	Sig. (2-tailed)	.431	<.001	.921	.957	.040	.457	<.001	<.001	<.001				
Purchase Intention	Pearson Correlation	.043	.020	093	012	.720**	.409**	.438**	.364**	.470**	.148*			
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.504	.760	.151	.853	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.022			
Purchase frequency	Pearson Correlation	047	111	149*	045	.397**	.301**	.173**	.134*	.195**	037	.442**		
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.467	.088	.021	.485	<.001	<.001	.007	.038	.002	.573	<.001		
Evaluation of label use	Pearson Correlation	096	.138*	.049	.030	.309**	.321**	.669**	.641**	.631**	.349**	.250**	.037	
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.140	.033	.452	.646	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.563	

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 5: Correlation matrix

4.8 Assumptions of analysis

Typically, in inferential statistics, several assumptions must be verified. This section will address the underlying assumptions that are of relevance to this statistical study, using reliability analyses, ANOVA analyses, and moderation analyses (Pallant, 2010).

First, the assumption of *homoscedasticity* must be fulfilled. Levene's test for equality of variances was performed and passed for all relevant analyses, verifying that variances were equal across groups. Second, the assumption of *independence* must be met. The data in each sample was collected through random sampling across the nation, performed by a professional data collector. Thus, the risk that observations were related to each other is very low. Third, the *level-of-measurement* is of importance, as it is essential that the outcome variable is continuous when using an ANOVA-analysis (Pallant, 2010). This was followed for all the analyses conducted. Fourth, it was ensured that there was *no multicollinearity* among the independent variables, meaning that none of the predictor variables were highly correlated with each other (See table 5.). Finally, the assumption of normality is met. Most variables have a skewness and kurtosis between -1 and +1, which means that they are normally distributed (See appendix C1.1). However, a few values lay between -1.5 and +1.5 in skewness/kurtosis, but never higher. Nonetheless, when skewness and kurtosis stay between -2 and +2, it is reasonable to assume that data are normally distributed (Khan, 2012).

5. Data analysis and results

In the following chapter, the collected data will be analyzed in order to test the hypotheses presented in chapter 3. These analyses were conducted using the statistical software program SPSS, where several statistical techniques were used.

5.1 Hypothesis testing

The following chapter will describe how the hypotheses of the study are tested. The hypotheses will be tested using frequency tables, correlation matrixes, ANOVA analyses and Hayes process-model 1.

5.1.1 Effects on product attitude

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to answer the following hypothesis:

H1-A: When sustainability is linked to a driver for choice, it has a greater positive effect on product attitude than when sustainability is presented as a separate attribute.

The analysis compared the effect on the product attitude between the two message groups (integrated or stand-alone). See Appendix C2 for results. Descriptive statistics were also used to assess mean scores (Appendix C1).

The effect on product attitude between sustainability messages that were integrated (M= 4.072, SD=1.49) and separate (M=3.886, SD=1.44) was not significantly different (p=.328). Equal variances between the groups are assumed, given the high p-value produced in Levene's test (Sig. =.805). The differences in mean scores were small (Δ M=0.186). An ANCOVA analysis was performed to control for variables that may co-variate with the dependent variable (age, gender), but there was no change in levels of significance.

To test if there is a significant effect under specific conditions, an ANOVA analysis was also conducted for each product category. Comparing message groups, positive differences in mean scores were detected for both Grandiosa (frozen pizza) ($\Delta M = .24$) and BareBra (granola) ($\Delta M = .32$). However, the mean is unaffected for Toro (instant soup) ($\Delta M = 0$). Nevertheless, no significant effect was detected under any foci.

To conclude, H1 is not supported.

5.1.2 Effects on perceived product sustainability

The same measures were conducted to test H1-B:

H1-B: *When sustainability is linked to a driver for choice, it has a greater positive effect on the perceived product sustainability than when sustainability is presented as a separate attribute.*

The analysis compares the perceived product sustainability between the two message groups (integrated or stand-alone). Again, see Appendix C2 for results.

Respondents exposed to the integrated sustainability message had a marginally significantly (F(1,238)=[3.725], p=0.055) higher perceived sustainability of the product (M=4.0083) than respondents exposed to the stand-alone message (M=3.6646). The Levene's test is passed, meaning that equal variances are assumed (Sig.=.585). The mean differences are small also for this dependent variable ($\Delta M = .343$).

Integrating the sustainability message had a positive effect on perceived sustainability for groups exposed to Grandiosa (frozen pizza) ($\Delta M = .65$) and BareBra (granola) ($\Delta M = .488$). However, for the group exposed to Toro (instant soup), the effect of integrating the sustainability message was negative ($\Delta M = -.106$). Nevertheless, the effect was only significant under the condition of BareBra (granola) (p=.027), not for Grandiosa (frozen pizza) (p=.105) or Toro (instant soup) (p=.753).

To summarize, H2 is partly supported for the overall sample. Under the condition of the most sustainable product, BareBra (granola), the hypothesis is supported.

5.1.3 Moderating effect of Product Category

Hayes (2018) process-macro was used to test hypothesis 2A and B:

H2-A: The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on product attitude is moderated by the sustainability of the product category. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for less sustainable products.

H2-B: The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on the perceived sustainability is moderated by the sustainability of the product category. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for less sustainable products.

The purpose of the analysis is to estimate whether the sustainability of the product category will have an influence on the relationship between the message and the dependent variables, and if so in which direction. Please see Appendix C3 for results.

Initially, a one-way ANOVA ensures that there are significant [F(2,237) = 3.11, p=.046] differences in the perceived sustainability between the chosen product categories in general $(M_1 = 3,13, M_2 = 3.21, M_3 = 3.60)$, meaning that the conditions are suited to investigate the following H2-testing. This implies that frozen pizza is considered the least sustainable category, instant soup as moderately sustainable, and granola as the most sustainable.

To investigate the influencing effect of the sustainability of the product category, a simple moderation analysis was conducted using Hayes's (2018) process-macro in SPSS. The predictor variable was Message, and the moderator variable was Sustainability of Product Category. Further, the outcome variable was either set as Product Attitude or Perceived Sustainability.

Product attitude

The interaction between the sustainability of product category and message was *not* found to be significant [B=.0375, 95%, C.I.(-.422,.4972), p=.872].

The results, therefore, show no support for the hypothesis assuming a negative moderating effect of product category on the relationship between the message and the product attitude. Thus, H2-A is not supported. However, this is expected, as there was no direct effect observed between the independent and dependent variables.

Perceived sustainability

As stated for H1-B, the integrated sustainability message only had a significant positive effect on perceived sustainability [F(1,78)=5.093, p=.027) for granola - being the *most* sustainable (Appendix C.2.3.). This initially indicates that our assumptions of a negative moderating effect of sustainability of the product category are incorrect.

The simple moderation analysis shows that the interaction effect between product category and message was slightly positive, but *not* found to be significant [B=.0813, 95%, C.I.(-.3492, .5117), p=.7103]. Thus, we observe no support for the hypothesis of a moderating effect of product category on the relationship between the message and perceived product sustainability.

5.1.4 Moderating effect of Perceived Importance of Sustainability

Hayes (2018) process macro was also used for hypothesis 3A and B:

H3-A: The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on product attitude is moderated by the perceived importance of sustainability. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for individuals who are less concerned with sustainability

H3-B: The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on perceived sustainability is moderated by the perceived importance of sustainability. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for individuals who are less concerned with sustainability.

The analysis investigates whether an individual's perceived importance of sustainability will have an influence on the relationship between the sustainability message and the dependent variables, and if so in which direction. See Appendix C4 & C5 for results.

Firstly, an independent t-test shows that there is a large, significant mean difference between the group of low concerns and the group of high concerns in terms of their overall rating of product attitude ($\Delta M = .48, p = .035$), perceived sustainability ($\Delta M = .81, p < .001$), evaluation of label usage ($\Delta M = 1.24, p < .001$), as well as purchase intention ($\Delta M = .75, p = .006$) (Appendix D6). Thus, the prerequisite for the hypothesis that eco-friendly products appeal more to environmentally conscious consumers is fulfilled. Equal variances were assumed for all variables (Sig>.005).

The grouping variable was defined by a cut point of 3.5 (mid-scale), meaning that one should be aware of the skewed distribution of the variable, as the average concern for sustainability (M=4.7) is higher than the cut-point. In addition, one should be aware of the possibility of information loss (Saunders et al., 2012). The grouped construct has been used to obtain a clear basis for comparison, but for the process analysis, the ungrouped construct is utilized.

For Hayes (2019) process-macro, the predicting variable was Message, and the moderator variable was Perceived importance of Sustainability. The outcome variable was either set as Product Attitude or Perceived Sustainability.

Product attitude

Comparing ratings on product attitude, we observe that mean differences between message groups are more substantial for individuals of low concerns ($\Delta M = 0.55$), compared to those of high concerns ($\Delta M = 0.07$). However, as discussed in H1, the positive effect of message on product attitude is not significant.

The observed interaction effect of perceived importance of Sustainability and Message was negative, but not significant [B=-.0629, 95%, C.I.(-.2980, .1723), p=.5989]. The interaction effect was neither significant under specific conditions (i.e. different levels of sustainability in product categories).

To conclude, there is no support for H3-A.

Perceived sustainability

Comparing ratings on perceived sustainability, the mean differences between message groups are bigger ($\Delta M = 0.75$) for individuals that are less concerned with sustainability compared to the more concerned individuals ($\Delta M = 0.2$). However, the effect was only significant for the group of low concerns [F(1,49)=4.115, p=.048].

The moderation analysis shows no significant moderating effect of the perceived importance of sustainability on the relationship between message and perceived sustainability (B=.0011, 95%, C.I.(-.2135, .2158), p=.9919]. The interaction effect was neither significant under specific conditions.

In conclusion, there is no support for H6.

5.2 Summary of results

The table below presents a summary of the findings, regarding whether the hypothesis is supported or not.

	Hypoteses	Result
H1A	When sustainability is linked to a driver for choice, it has a greater positive effect on product attitude than when sustainability is presented as a separate attribute.	Not supported
H1B	When sustainability is linked to a driver for choice, it has a greater positive effect on perceived sustainability than when sustainability is presented as a separate attribute.	Partly supported. Supported under the condition of "BareBra" granola.
H2A	The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on product attitude is moderated by the sustainability of the product category. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for less sustainable products.	Not supported
H2B	The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on the perceived sustainability is moderated by the sustainability of the product category. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for less sustainable products.	Not supported.
НЗА	The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on product attitude is moderated by the perceived importance of sustainability. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for individuals who are less concerned with sustainability	Not supported.
НЗВ	The effect of integrating sustainability and drivers in the message on perceived sustainability is moderated by the perceived importance of sustainability. Specifically, we expect a stronger effect of integration for individuals who are less concerned with sustainability.	Not supported.

Table 6: Summary of results

6. Discussion of results

The present study analyzed the effect of linking sustainability to main drivers of choice on product attitude and perceived sustainability. Moderating effects (sustainability of product categories and perceived importance of sustainability) have also been investigated. In this chapter, the results will be discussed for each hypothesis. Further, the study's contribution to literature and practical implications will be assessed.

6.1 H1 - Direct effect of integrating the message

Effect on product attitude

The results indicate that linking sustainability messages to a major driver of choice does not yield significantly different product attitudes alone. This may suggest that there are other factors that are important in shaping the overall product attitudes (i.e., price, taste, brand identity etc.) (SurveyMonkey, Nd), leaving the textual message alone to have a limited influence on overall evaluations. This can especially be the case for this research, as the experiment makes use of well-known existing brands, that the respondents already have formed an opinion on. As well-established evaluations are hard to change (Bar-Tal & Hameiri, 2020), the manipulated information might not be enough to change their product attitude.

Effect on perceived sustainability

The findings further indicate that integrating the sustainability message into the brand position does yield a marginally significant change in perceived sustainability, and the effect was decidedly significant under the condition of BareBra (granola). In sum, this means that the product is perceived as more genuinely sustainable when the sustainability message is integrated. This could further indicate that the suspicion of greenwashing tied to the sustainability communication decreases for integrated message types. Assessing the different aspects of the sustainability construct, the effect was only significant for the social sustainability aspects, not the environmental ones. We do find this strange, as the message does not directly address social aspects. One potential explanation could be that the statement of short-traveled food ingredients creates associations with improved working conditions, as Norwegian working conditions are ranked among the highest in the world (ITUC, 2015). Nevertheless, this finding suggests that the sustainability communication should be designed based on what type of sustainability features the company wants to establish for the product.

General discussion

Overall, the positive direct effect of message on the dependent variables is either low or nonsignificant. This could potentially be explained by the design of the experiment, in terms of the manipulation of the sustainability message.

First, the integrated sustainability message argues that short-traveled ingredients provide better taste. This information may not be sufficient, as the link between good taste and short-traveled food (i.e. coming from Norway) may not be as strong and meaningful to the consumer as initially expected. This will particularly be the case for the product categories where the country of origin is of importance. For example, for the frozen pizza, respondents are likely to infer better taste to the product if the communication refers to being produced in Italy, a country that is known to be specialists in the "pizza category". Similarly, for the instant soup (presented by a tomato soup in the experiment), a linkage to Spain could have led to better taste associations than a linkage to Norway. For the granola category, on the other hand, the claim of short-traveled, Norwegian ingredients is probably easier to associate with great taste, as many Norwegian farmers specialize in growing wheat, barley and oats (Opplysningskontoret for Brød & Korn, 2022). This could be an explanation to why the message only had a significant positive effect under the condition of BareBra (granola).

Second, the choice of the main driver, taste, could be another explanation for the weak/nonsignificant results. The results for Toro (instant soup) constantly deviate from the results in the other conditions, weakening the overall effect of the sustainability message. The product is known to offer a simple and relatively healthy meal in a hectic everyday situation, meaning that linking sustainability to "taste" might not be the *most* suitable. Although "taste" is confirmed by Orkla to be a major driver for choice for Toro (instant soup), one can expect convenience and easy access to nutrition to be more prominent drivers than a unique taste experience. Additionally, Toro Tomato Soup is marketed as *mild* in taste, and suitable for the whole family. Thus, when claiming that the eco-labeled tomato soup is "rich in taste", this could appear contradictory to the existing brand promise. If so, the sustainability message will not be as integrated into the brand's position to the same degree as for the other product categories, which can explain why there were deviating results for Toro instant soup.

Based on the preceding discussion, we found it relevant to run a new analysis that excluded Toro (instant soup) from the sample. A general linear model shows an overall significant positive effect of integrating the sustainability message when Toro (instant soup) is excluded, Wilks Lambda =.943, [F(3,154)=3.10, p=.029]. More precisely, a significant difference is observed for both environmental (p=.049) and social sustainability (p=.004), but not for product attitude (p=.286). When the complete sample was included, however, Wilks Lambda was not significant =.974, F(3,234)=2.057, p=.107. Thus, if the main driver had been chosen under closer consideration, one could expect that integrating the sustainability message into the brand position would have had an overall bigger influence on the dependent variables.

6.2 H2 - Moderating effect of product category

No significant moderating effect of product category on the relationship between message and product attitude or message and perceived product sustainability was detected. The non-significant interaction effects were slightly positive for product attitude and slightly negative for perceived sustainability. However, these effects are indifferent as the minimal variations could have occurred by chance.

The lack of significant effects could be explained due to small differences in the perceived sustainability of the chosen categories in general. Although significant, the magnitude of the mean differences between sustainability levels of the categories is minimal, being $\Delta M = .08$ between frozen pizza (low) and instant soup (medium), and $\Delta M = .39$ between instant soup (medium) and granola (high) (Appendix C1.3). Overall, although significant differences, there were no extreme ratings on sustainability levels (mean scores were ranging from 3.12 - 3.6 on a 7-point Likert scale). Thus, the differences in sustainability of the chosen product categories are not very optimal to see significant effects. Furthermore, it is also possible that other factors, such as the specific messaging used (as discussed for H1) could have influenced the results.

6.3 H3 - Moderating effect of perceived importance of sustainability

The expected effect of the perceived importance of sustainability on the relationship between message and product attitude was non-significant.

One potential explanation for the lack of significant effects could be tied to the skewed distribution in the sample regarding sustainability concerns, as 51 respondents reported a

concern for sustainability below 3.5, and 189 reported a concern for sustainability above 3.5. Additionally, the relationship between the perceived importance of sustainability and the effectiveness of integrating the sustainability message could be more complex than initially thought, meaning that other factors may need to be considered to understand the full picture. Further research would be needed to explore these possibilities and to determine the exact reasons for the lack of significant results.

6.4 Contribution to Literature

In the context of everyday food products, this research study contributes to the emerging field of sustainability communication and facilitating green consumer behavior.

Firstly, findings from the research confirm the positive attitudes to sustainable behavior suggested by previous research (Norad, 2022, Simon-Kucher & Partners, 2021) In addition, the study also supports previous findings (e.g. Akthar et al, 2021) that sustainable products perform better among more sustainably conscious consumers. Moreover, the study contributes to the literature on the value-action gap (e.g. Sachdeva et al., 2015; Skard et al., 2020; Cowe & Williams, 2000), through findings on how integrated sustainability communication could be used as a tool to reduce the inference of trade-offs (e.g., taste, quality) tied to greener products, and thus potentially reduce the gap.

The results further contribute to research on sustainability communication through findings that both partially support and contradict arguments proposed in the literature. Literature suggests making sustainability a key business driver (Olsen & Boxenbaum, 2009), where it is a central part of the corporate brand identity (Stuart, 2011). More specifically, Supphellen (2021) proposes that integrating sustainability into the brand position can be an effective way to build a more sustainable image and make the brand more attractive. Our findings provide evidence that partially supports the assumption that integrating sustainability into the brand position will increase the perceived sustainability of the product. However, we observe that the effect seems to depend on the extent to which sustainability is linked to the *most* important driver for choice, which is an important contribution to the literature. In addition, the findings suggest that integrating the message will not have any influence on product attitudes. Future research in this area may benefit from this information.

The findings further contribute to the research field of sustainability labels. By utilizing additional sustainability communication that is integrated into the brand position when introducing a sustainability label, companies can provide a clearer message to the consumer of what the sustainability element means (Keller, 2008). This implies that consumer confusion potentially could be reduced by adding integrated sustainability communication (Torma & Thøgersen, 2021), and thus enhance the effect of introducing the label.

Moreover, the study contributes to research on the effect of green introductions in various product categories. Olsen et al. (2014), argues that green introductions will perform better for vice products (less healthful), and Luchs et al., (2019) suggest that products of more gentleness-related attributes will perform better. However, our findings challenge the argumentation, as no significant differences were found across the three product categories consisting of different attributes. This could encourage future research experimenting with more distinct sustainable food products.

The study shows no significant difference between the various levels of perceived importance of sustainability. This contributes to the literature on sustainability communication (e.g. Supphellen, 2020), implying that the effect of integrating sustainability into the brand position will apply to everyone – both individuals of low and high concerns for sustainability. This could help to inform future research and marketing strategies in this area.

6.5 Practical implications

In the following, we will review the managerial implications that the study can provide for managers of food products and marketing practitioners.

Food producers are increasingly looking to improve the sustainability of their products, and many choose to introduce sustainability labels to their products. In doing so, it is crucial that managers are aware of how this can be done most effectively. To increase the perceived sustainability of the product, the findings from this study encourage managers to link the sustainability label to the most important drivers for choice. This is further found to be significantly positively correlated to consumers' purchase intention, meaning that the company could also improve overall sales and turnover. Results were relatively similar for both genders

and age groups, meaning that the insight and suggestions can be applied to food products targeted across age groups and genders.

Furthermore, the thesis provides some valuable insights for the management of the collaborative company, Orkla. Their carbon footprint label, Klodemerket, has currently only been launched for two of the brands represented in the research (Grandiosa and Toro), and is yet to be launched for BareBra. Our study suggests that consumers are positive about BareBra using the sustainability label. Further, the findings show that BareBra (granola), can be perceived as significantly more sustainable if sustainability is linked to the main drivers for choice (e.g. taste) compared to using stand-alone sustainability messages. Thus, we recommend Orkla to launch Klodemerket on products from BareBra, while ensuring that they link the label to the main drivers of choice when doing so.

7. Limitation and future research

This chapter will address the internal and external validity of the research, along with construct validity. Lastly, suggestions for future research will be presented.

7.1 Limitations

7.1.1 Internal validity

The internal validity of a study refers to the extent to which the researchers can confidently assert that the relationship between variables is not influenced by any other variables, factors, or aspects of the study (Saunders et al., 2012). In this section, threats to the internal validity of this study will be discussed.

Whenever respondents think or feel they could be negatively affected by the results of a research study, it is referred to as a threat of testing (Saunders et al., 2012). Therefore, the participants were informed about their anonymity, giving the participants a sense of security (Podsakoff et al., 2003). Furthermore, to prevent respondents from adjusting their responses due to bias, the introduction of the questionnaire did not disclose the subject matter or purpose of the study. Additionally, by manipulating the independent variables, the research design itself facilitates increased control. To avoid a systematic bias, the respondents were randomly assigned to one of the six conditions in the experiment. As they were unaware of the other six conditions, these factors allowed blinding the respondents (Saunders et al., 2012).

The website extracts were carefully designed to be as similar as possible, having the same communication on all extracts, except for a change of product name and the driver of choice (good taste or good for the environment). Thus, the threat of instrumentation was also reduced. Additionally, all graphics were designed to identically match the real product page from the Orkla website, and the sustainability label had the same size and placement on all products. Due to the small changes in the design base, we assume that the observed effects between the groups did not occur due to the experiment design. The set of questions in the associated questionnaire was kept consistent across all groups.

Past or recent events could also be a threat to internal validity and might have an unforeseen effect on a planned study (Saunders et al., 2016). The experiment is based on well-known brands and products, meaning that there could be factors such as ongoing product campaigns,

etc. that could affect the study. We are aware that Toro ran a campaign related to sustainability around the time the survey was conducted. This could have influenced the participant's perception of the products, and thereby reduced the internal validity.

Moreover, self-reporting could threaten the internal validity of the study. According to research by Whitehead et al., (2016), it is estimated that approximately 50% of individuals overestimate their intentions when self-reporting their behavior. It could therefore be the case that some of the participants wrongly estimated their responses to the behavioral questions (e.g. perceived importance of sustainability and purchase intention).

Finally, by collecting the data through a professional data collector that is obligated to provide the agreed number of respondents, the threat of mortality was avoided. This implies that all participants completed the questionnaire. Additionally, it was assured that there were no careless respondents by assessing the standard deviation of values across all relevant variables.

7.1.2 External validity

The external validity of a research study is the extent to which its findings can be generalized to all relevant contexts (Saunders et al., 2012).

As mentioned in chapter 4.3, this study employs probability sampling, also called representative sampling. Data that are generated tough probability sampling are better suited to represent the population compared to non-probability sampling where subjects are chosen arbitrarily (Saunders et al., 2016). For the data collection, the probabilities of selection were fixed and known to ensure external validity. As mentioned in chapter 4.3, the participants were representative between genders, age groups and came from different parts of Norway. We, therefore, consider the external validation to be strong.

Only Norwegian residents participated in the study. Thus, the results might not be generalized to the population of other countries. However, it is reasonable to assume that the perceived importance of stainability among Norwegian residents is similar to those among residents of nationalities that have the same standard of living and attention to sustainability as Norway (i.e., other Scandinavian countries, Netherlands, Germany, etc.). As the experiment explored the participants' attitudes and perceptions tied to sustainability communication, the results could therefore be more generalizable to the population of these countries, compared to

countries where sustainability is less of a priority (e.g due to other issues like war or a lower standard of living).

Further, one can assess whether the results can be generalized to apply to other product categories of the same sustainability categorization. The perceived sustainability of the product categories was tested both in a pretest (only mentioning the product categories) and the questionnaire (where the respondents had been exposed to a specific product in the category), which give similar and significantly different results regarding the level of sustainability of the product categories. In addition, the differences between the products placed in the "low" and "medium" sustainability categories were minor. Therefore, one could argue that the differences between the sustainability of the product categories might not have been sufficient and optimal. Overall, this limits the generalization of results to apply to other products of the same sustainability levels.

The survey had 240 participants in total, divided into six groups of 40 participants per group. Although the sample size is sufficient (>30), the sample size is relatively small. When having a small sample size (which is the case when looking at the number of participants per group), it is more likely that errors occur in generalizing the results to the population (Saunders et al., 2012). Thus, the sample size could potentially be a threat to the external validity of the study.

Due to the scope of our research the study, we did not use a multi-method approach for the research design. This study was conducted over a short time frame, and therefore only used a mono method, through a quantitative study. If a multi-method had been conducted (e.g., including follow-up interviews) this could have provided a richer approach to the data collection, the analysis, and the interoperation (Saunders et al., 2012). Nevertheless, this could also have threatened the anonymity of the participants.

Finally, the questionnaire was tested and optimized thoroughly for usability and graphics. The graphics in the first pilot test of the questionnaire were misplaced and incorrectly constructed. If not adjusted, this could have led to errors in the results. The second pilot test was approved for distribution.

7.1.3 Construct validity

Construct validity is the extent to which the measures of the research are measuring what is intended (Saunders et al., 2012). The measures in the questionnaire were carefully chosen based on well-established measurements taken from existing academic and peer-reviewed literature. These established measures were adapted and applied to the questionnaire, which contributed to measuring the intended constructs and fulfilling construct validity. We cannot, however, exclude the possibility that some questions were misinterpreted once adapted for our specific objective.

7.2 Future research

The field of research on sustainability labels is already well-established and explored. However, there is little research on how they are launched effectively. Considering our discrepancies and the short timeframe of a master's thesis, further research into this topic is recommended. Since the results of the study conflict with other academic findings, additional research is required. This chapter will discuss suggestions for future research, based on the findings and the limitations of this research.

First, we would like to address the direct effect of linking sustainability to drivers of choice. As discussed, the results provided partial support for the hypothesis that linking sustainability labels to major drivers for choice is more effective in increasing the perceived sustainability than a stand-alone launch of labels. However, when excluding Toro (instant soup) from the analysis, the direct effect was found to be decidedly significant (p<.05), providing full support for the hypothesis. As argued, convenience is believed to be the most important driver for choice for this product, not "taste" which was used in the manipulated message. Thus, these findings may suggest that the effect of integrating the sustainability message will depend on the extent to which sustainability is linked to the *most* important driver for choice. Therefore, we encourage future research to further investigate this tendency, experimenting with more relevant drivers of choice.

Further, it was observed that the effect of linking sustainability to drivers for choice on perceived sustainability only had a significant effect under the condition of the highly sustainable product category, BareBra (granola). As mentioned in the discussion in chapter 6, we suspect this might be because short-travelled Norwegian ingredients are easier to associate

with great taste for corn products. We, therefore, suggest future research to investigate how Norway can exploit its reputation for sustainability, and to further evaluate the effect of linking country-of-origin associations to an integrated sustainability communication.

Second, we investigated the moderating effects of product category and perceived importance of sustainability, neither being significant. As discussed under the limitations concerning external validity (cf. 7.1.2), the differences between the product categories in terms of sustainability levels might not have been sufficient to see any clear results. We therefore encourage future research to study product categories of more prominent sustainability levels, to see if this would have an impact on the result.

Finally, we found no significant results regarding the moderating effect of perceived importance of sustainability, suggesting that the direct effect of linking sustainability to main drivers appears to apply to individuals of both low and high sustainability concerns. However, future research could potentially experiment with a sample that includes a more even distribution of individuals of low and high sustainability concerns to further validate this finding.

References

- Aitchinson, J. (1999). Cutting Edge Advertising: How to Create the World's Best Print for Brands in the 21st Century. New York: Prentice Hall.
- Akenji, L. (2014). Consumer scapegoatism and limits to green consumerism. *Journal of Cleaner Production (63)*, pp. 13-23.
- Akhtar, R., Sultana, S., Masud, M. M., Jafrin, N., & Al-Mamun, A. (2021). Consumers' environmental ethics, willingness, and green consumerism between lower and higher income groups. *Resources, Conservation & Recycling (168)*.
- Aprile, M. C., & Punzo, G. (2022). How environmental sustainability labels affect food choices: Assessing consumer preferences in southern Italy. *Journal of Cleaner Production (332)*.
- Atkinson, L. Rosenthal, S. (2014) Signaling the Green Sell: The influence of Eco-label Source, argument specificity and product involvement on consumer trust. *Journal of Advertising 43(1)*, pp 33-45. Doi: 10.1080/00913367.2013.834803
- Bar-Tal, & Hameiri, B. (2020). Interventions to change well-anchored attitudes in the context of intergroup conflict. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 14(7), n/a–n/a. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12534</u>
- Brewer, M. B. (2000). Research design and issues of validity. In H. T. Reis & C. M. Judd (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods in social and personality psychology*. (pp. 3-16). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Cambridge Dictionary. (2022). *Sustainability*. Retrieved from Cambridge Dictionary: <u>https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/sustainability</u>
- Caniato, F., Caridi, M., Crippa, L., Moretto, A., 2012. Environmental sustainability in fashion supply chains: exploratory case-based research. *Int. J. Prod. Econ.* 135 (2), 659-667

- Charness, G., Gneezy, U., & Kuhn, M. A. (2012). Experimental methods: Between-subject and within-subject design. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 81(1), 18. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2011.08.009
- Chekima, B., Wafa, S. A. W. S., Igau, O. AA., Chekima, S., Sondoh, S. L. (2016) Examining green consumerism motivational drivers: does premium price and demographics matter to green purchasing? *Journal of Cleaner Production 112. Pp.* 3436-3450. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.09.102</u>
- Chen, Y.-S. (2010). The Drivers of Green Brand Equity: Green Brand Image, Green Satisfaction, and Green Trust. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 93(2), 307-319. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-009-0223-9
- Chen, Y.-S., & Chang, C.-H. (2012). Greenwash and Green Trust: The mediation Effects of Green Consumer Confusion and Green Perceived Risk. *Journal of Business Ethics* 114 (3), pp. 489-500. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-012-1360-0.
- Cho, Y-N. & Baskin, E. (2019). It's a match when green meets healthy in sustainability marketing. *Journal of Business Research*, 86, 119–129.
- Comas Marti, J.M., Seifert, R.W., 2012. *Reviewing the Adoption of Ecolabels by Firms, Survey Report.* http://www.imd.org/news/Ecolabels-study.cfm
- Delmas, & Burbano, V. C. (2011). The Drivers of Greenwashing. California Management Review, 54(1), 64–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/cmr.2011.54.1.64</u>
- Deloitte (2022) *How consumers are embracing sustainability*. Retrieved from Deloitte: <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/uk/en/pages/consumer-business/articles/sustainable-consumer.html</u>
- Donato, C. & Adiguzel, F. (2022): Visual complexity of eco-labels and product evaluations in online setting: Is simple always better? *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services Volume 67. DOI:* <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2022.102961</u>

- Eagly, A. H., & Chaiken, S. (1993). *The Psychology of Attitudes*. Orlando, FL.: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich.
- Ecolabel Index. (2022). *Home*. Retrieved from Ecolabel Index: <u>https://www.ecolabelindex.com/</u>
- Elkington, J. (1998). Partnerships from cannibals with forks: The triple bottom line of 21stcentury business. *Environmental quality management*, pp. 37-51.
- Fischer, D., Brettel, M., & Mauer, R. (2020, 09 18). The Three Dimensions of Sustainability: A Delicate Balancing Act for Entrepreneurs Made More Complex by Stakeholder Expectations. *Journal of Business Ethics*, pp. 87-106. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-4012-1</u>
- Fishbein, A. &. (1980). Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior. Englewood Cliffs: NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Foroudi, P., Palazzo, M. (2021) Sustainable Branding: Ethical, Social, and Environmental Cases and Perspectives. London: Routledge
- Gallastegui, I. (2002). The use of eco-labels: a review of the literature. . *European Environment, 12*, pp. 316–331.
- Gleim, M. R., Smith, J. S., Andrews, D., Cronin Jr. J. J. (2013) Against the Gree: A Multimethod Examination of the Barriers to Green Consumption. *Journal of retailing 89*. Pp. 44-61. Doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2012.10.001</u>
- Golden, J. S., Vermer, D., Clemen, B., Michalko, A., Nguyen, D., Noyes, C., Akella, A.
 Bunting, J. (2010) An overview of ecolabels and sustainability certifications in the global marketplace. *Interim report corporate sustainability initiative Nicholas Institute for Environmental policy solutions*.
 <u>https://www.academia.edu/20586265/An_Overview_of_Ecolabels_and_Sustainability</u>
 <u>Certifications_in_the_Global_Marketplace</u>

- Grunert, K. G., Hieke, S., & Wills, J. (2014). Sustainability labels on food products: Consumer motivation, understanding and use. *Food Policy 44*, pp. 177-189. Doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2013.12.001
- Herpen, E. V., Hooge, I., E. D. (2019) When product attitudes go to waste: wasting products with remaining utility decreases consumers product attitudes. *Journal of cleaner production 210*. Pp.410-418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.10.331
- Horne, R. E. (2009). Limits to labels: The role of eco-labels in the assessment of product sustainability and routes to sustainable consumption. *International Journal of Consumer Studies ISSN 1470-6423*, pp. 8: doi: 10.1111/j.1470-6431.2009.00752.x.
- H&M (2019) Conscious products explained. https://www2.hm.com/en_gb/ladies/ shop-by-feature/conscious-products-explained.html.
- ITUC (2015) The world's Worst Countries for workers: The 2015 IUTC Global Rights Index. The International Trade Union Confederation. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.spekter.no/nyheter/verdens-beste-arbeidsliv-article1960-1212.html</u>
- Jørgensen, & Pedersen, L. J. T. (2018). *RESTART sustainable business model innovation* Switzerland: Palgrave Macmillan.

Kannan, S. (2020, June 10). Points Of Parity, First step in Your Brand Positioning. LinkedIn. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/points-parity-first-step-your-brand-positioningsatheesh-

kannan#:~:text=Points%20of%20parity%20are%20also,on%20your%20points%20of%20diff erence.

Keller. (1993, January). Conceptualizing, measuring, and managing customer based brand equity. *Journal of Marketing* 57(1), pp. 1-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00222429930570010</u>.

- Keller, & Swaminathan. (2019). Strategic Brand Management: Building, measuring, and Managing Brand Equity. UK: Pearson Education Limited. UK: Pearson Education Limited.
- Keller, K. L. (2008). *Strategic Brand Management* (12 ed.). Upper Seddle River, NJ: Prantice-Hall.
- Keller, K. L. (2001). Building Customer-Based Brand Equity: A Blueprint for Creating Strong Brands. (MSI working paper no. 01-107). *Marketing Science Institute.*, pp. Retrieved 1st of November from: <u>https://www.msi.org/working-papers/building-</u> <u>customerbased-brand-equity-a-blueprint-for- creating-strong-brands/</u>.
- Keller, K. L. (2012). Understanding the richness of brand relationships: Research dialogue on brands as intentional agents. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 22(2), pp. 186-190. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcps.2011.11.011.
- Khan, A. F. (2014). Assessment of Midlife Career Stress on Indian Managers. Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh.
- Khurram, A., & Lunden, S. (2021). Strengths and Weaknesses of Brand Positioning Practises in B2B Companies in Norway : A Comparison with Normative Theory. NHH. <u>https://openaccess.nhh.no/nhh-xmlui/handle/11250/2985692</u>
- Kim, J., Taylor C. R, Kim, H. K., Lee, K.H. (2015) Measures of perceived sustainability. Journal of Global Scholars of Marketing Science: Bridging Asia and the World. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/21639159.2015.1015473</u>
- Kimura, A., Wada , Y., Kamada, A., Masuda, T., Okamoto, M., Goto, S.-i., ... Dan, I.
 (2010). Interactive effects of carbon footprint information and its accessibility on value and subjective qualities of food products. *Appetite (55)*, pp. 271-278.
- Kotler, P., & Keller, K. (2009). *Marketing Management 13th edition*. New Jersey.: Pearson Prentice Hall,

Kotler, P. (2005). Markedsføringsledelse. (3rd ed.). Gyldendal Akademisk.

- Kover, A. J. (1995, March 21). Copywriters' Implicit Theories of Communication: An Exploration. *Journal of Consumer Research*, pp. 596-611.
- Kunst, a. (2021, March 24). Which of these food and drink products that you bought in the last 3 months were sustainable/eco-friendly? Statista. <u>https://www.statista.com/forecasts/1241155/sustainable-food-beverage-purchases-bycategory-in-the-uk#statisticContainer</u>
- Lambin, E.F., Thorlakson, T. (2018) Sustainability Standards: Interactions between private actors, civil society, and governments. *Annual review of Environment and resource*. pp. 369-396
- Leach, A., Emery, K., Gephart, J., Davis, K., Erisman, J., & Galloway, J. (2016).
 Environmental impact food labels combine carbon, nitrogen, and water footprints.
 Elsevier Ltd: Food Policy, *61(61)*. pp. 213-223. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodpol.2016.03.006.
- Lee, J., Do-Hyung, P., Han, I., (2008) The effect of negative online consumer reviews on product attitude: an information processing view. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications 7 (2008)* 341–352. doi:10.1016/j.elerap.2007.05.004
- Lee, Y. (2019) Communicating sustainable development: Effects of stakeholder-centric perceived sustainability. *Corporate social responsibility and environmental management*. DOI: 10.1002/csr.1900
- Luchs, M. G., Naylor, R. W., Irwin , J. R., & Raghunathan, R. (2010). The Sustainability Liability: Potential Negative Effects of Ethicality on Product Preference. *Journal of Marketing*, *September 2010, Vol. 74, No. 5*, pp. pp.18-31: <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/41228571</u>.
- Maignan, & Ralston, D. A. (2002). Corporate Social Responsibility in Europe and the U.S.: Insights from Businesses' Self-Presentations. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 33(3), 497–514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jibs.8491028</u>

- Majer, J. M., Henscher, H. A., Reuber, P., Fischer-Kreer, D., & Fischer, D. (2022). The effects of visual sustainability labels on consumer perception and behavior: A systematic review of the empirical literature . *Sustainable Production and Consumption (33)*, pp. 1-14. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2022.06.012</u>
- Minkov, N., Lehmann, A., Winter, L., & Finkbeiner, M. (2020). Characterization of environmental labels beyond the criteria of ISO 14020 series. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment (2020) 25*, pp. 840-855.
- Nikolaou, I. E., & Tsalis, T. (2018). A framework to evaluate eco- and social-labels for designing a sustainability consumption label to measure strong sustainability impact of firms/products. *Journal of Cleaner Production (182)*, pp. 105-113. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.02.042</u>
- Newton, J. D., Tsarenko, J., Ferrraro, C., Sands. (2015) Environmental concern and environmental purchase intentions: The mediating role of learning strategy. *Journal of business research 68. Pp.1974-1981* http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.01.007
- Norad. (2018). *4 av 5 nordmenn vil endre hverdagsvaner for miljøet*. Retrieved from Norad: <u>https://www.norad.no/aktuelt/nyheter/2018/4-av-5-nordmenn-vil-endre-</u> hverdagsvaner-for-miljoet/
- Nguyen, H. V., Nguyen, C. H., Hoang, T. T. B. (2019) Green consumption: Closing the intention-behavior gap. *Sustainable development*. 209;28: pp. 118-129, DOI: 10.1002/sd.1875
- OECD. (2005). Effects of Eco-labelling Schemes: Compilation of Recent Studies,. *COM/ENV/TD*(2004)34/FINAL., Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris.
- Olsen, & Boxenbaum, E. (2009). Bottom-of-the-Pyramid: Organizational Barriers to Implementation. *California Management Review*, 51(4), 100–125. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/41166507</u>

- Olsen, E., & Ougland, S. K. (2021). Overcoming the Sustainability Liability: Can Stating Product Strength Increase Preference for Sustainable Products? *NORA - Norwegian Open Research Archives*, p. p.10.
- Olsen, M., Slotegraaf, R., & Chandukala, S. (2014). *Green Claims and Message Frames: How Green New Products Change Brand Attitude*. Chicago: American Marketing Association.
- Opplysningskontoret for Brød og Korn (2022, 10. oktober) Kornproduksjon i Norge. Kornfakta. <u>https://brodogkorn.no/fakta/kornproduksjon-i-norge/</u>
- Pallant, J. (2010) SPSS Survival Manual: A step by Step guide to Data Analysis Using SPSS.
 4th Edition, McGraw Hill, New York
- Park, C. W., Jaworski, B. J., & MacInnis, D. J. (1995, October 1). Strategic Brand Concept Image Management. *Journal of Marketing*, pp. 135-145.
- Peattie, K. and Crane, A. (2005) "Green marketing: legend, myth, farce or prophesy?", *Qualitative Market Research: an International Journal, Vol.* 8, No. 4, pp. 357-370.
- Pedersen, L. T., & Jørgensen, S. (2018). *RESTART Sustainable business model innovation*.6330 Cham, Swizerland: Plagrave Mcmillan.
- Peta, 2019. *These fashion companies and brands have banned* Fur. <u>https://www</u>. peta.org/features/fur-free-companies-brands-that-banned-fur/.
- Petty, R. E., & Cacioppo, J. T. (1983). "Central and peripheral routes to persuasion: application to advertising. *in Percy, L. and Woodside, A.G. (Eds), Advertising and Consumer Psychology, D.C. Heath and Company, Lexington,*, pp. pp.3-23.
- Pieters, R. G. M. (1991). Changing garbage disposal patterns of consumers: Motivation, ability, and performance. *Journal of Public Policy and Marketing 10(2)*. Pp 59-76

- Pieters, R., & Wedel, M. (2004, April 1). Attention Capture and Transfer in Advertising: Brand, Pictorial, and Text-Size Effects. *Journal of Marketing vol.* 68, pp. 35-50: <u>https://web-p-ebscohost</u> <u>com.ezproxy.nhh.no/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=c341e8eb-3c3a-4d39-806f-9a271f35dd51%40redis</u>.
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S.B., Lee, J.-Y., & Podasakoff, N.P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research: A critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(01)00310-1
- Poret, S. (2019). Label wars: Competition among NGOs as sustainability standard setters. Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization (160), pp. 1-18. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2019.02.0150167-2681</u>
- Purvis, B., Mao, Y., & Robinson, D. (2019). Three pillars of sustainability: in search of conceptual origins . *Sustainability Science*, pp. 681-695. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-018-0627-5</u>
- Riva, F., Magrizos, S., Rubel, M. R., & Rizomyliotis, I. (2022). Green consumerism, green perceived value, and restaurant revisit intention: Millennials' sustainable consumption with moderating effect of green perceived quality. *Business Strategy and the Environment*.
- Sachdeva, S., Jordan, J., & Mazar, N. (2015). Green consumerism: moral motivations to a sustainable future. *Current opinion in Psycology*.
- Samuelsen, B. M., Peretz, A., & Olsen, L. E. (2019). *Merkevareledelse*. Oslo: Cappelen Damm.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2012). *Research methods for business students*. 6th ed. Harlow, Essex, Pearson Education Limited.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). *Research methods for business students*. 7th ed. Harlow, Essex, Pearson Education Limited.

- Schäufele, I., & Janssen, M. (2021, February 16). How and Why Does the Attitude-Behavior Gap Differ Between Product Categories of Sustainable Food? Analysis of Organic Food Purchases Based on Household Panel Data. *Frontiers in Psychology. Sec. Eating behavior*, p. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.595636</u>.
- Schumacher, J. & Button, F. (1990) *The Green fuse: The Schumacher lectures 1983-8*. Publisher: Quartet books.
- Schumann, D. W., Kotowski, M., Ahn, H., & Haugtvedt, C. (2011). *The Elaboration Likelihood Model: A Thirty Year Review.* in Moriarty, S.
- Seifert, P. R., & Comas, J. (2012, April 5). Have Ecolabels had their day? The truth behind sustainability labels from the people who mitigate them. *IMD: International Institute* for Management Development., pp. 5: <u>https://www.imd.org/research-knowledge/articles/have-ecolabels-had-their-day/</u>
- Seo, S., Jeong , J., Ahn , H.-K., & Moon, J. (2016, August 29). Consmers' Attitude toward Sustainable Food Products: Ingredients vs. Packaging. *Journal of Sustainability* , p. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su8101073</u>.
- Simon-Kucher & Partners (2021). *The global sustainability study 2021 Consumers are key players for a sustainable future*: <u>https://www.simon-</u> <u>kucher.com/sites/default/files/studies/Simon-</u> <u>Kucher Global Sustainability Study 2021.pdf</u>
- Skard, S., Jørgensen, S., & Pedersen, L. T. (2019). When is Sustainability a Liability, and When Is It an Asset? Quality Inferences for Core and Peripheral Attributes. *Journal of Business Ethics*, p. p.19.
- Sternthal B., Tybout A.M., Calder B.J. (1994) Experimental design: generalization and theoretical explanation, in Richard P. Bagozzi (Ed.), *Principles of Marketing Research*, Blackwell Publishers, Cambridge, MA,
- Stuart, J. (2011). An identity-based approach to the sustainable corporate brand. Corporate Communications, 16(2), 139–149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13563281111141660</u>
- Supphellen, M. (2020, Oktober). Hvorfor og hvordan integrere bærekraft i merkeposisjoneringen. *Magma*, pp. 44-54.
- Supphellen, M., Thorbjørnsen, H., & Troye, S. (2014). Markedsføring. Oslo: Fagdirektoratet.
- SurveyMonkey (Nd): *How to measure consumer attitudes and behavior*. <u>https://www.surveymonkey.com/market-research/resources/how-to-measure-</u> <u>consumer-attitudes-and-behavior/</u>
- Stø, E., Strandbakken, P., Scheer, D., Rubik, F., (2005) Background: theoretical contributions, eco-labels and environmental policy. *The Future of Eco-labelling*, 2005, p.16-45
- Tan, L. P., Johnstone, M.-L., Yang, L. (2016) Barriers to Green consumption behaviors: The roles of Consumers' Green Perceptions. *Australian Marketing Journal*, 24, 288-299
- Thøgersen, J., 2005. Consumer behaviour and the environment: which role for in- formation? In: Krarup, S., Russell, C.S. (Eds.), *Environment, Information and Consumer Behaviour*. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, UK, pp. 51-63.
- Thøgersen, J., & Nielsen, S. K. (2016). A better carbon footprint label. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, pp. 86-94.
- Tiwari, S., Tripathi, D., Srivastava, U. and Yadav, P.K. (2011) "Green marketing emerging dimensions", *Journal of Business Excellence*, Vol.2, No.1, pp. 18-23.
- TerraChoice Environmental Marketing. (2007). The "Seven Sins of GreenwashingTM": A Study of Environmental Claims in North American Consumer Markets. Canada: TerraChoice Environmental Marketing Inc.

- Tonys Chocolonely,, 2019. *Slave free chocolate our mission*. Retrieved from: <u>https://tonyschocolonely.com/uk/en/our-mission</u>.
- Torma, G., & Thøgersen, J. (2021). A systematic literature review on meta sustainability labeling e What do we (not) know? *Journal of Cleaner Production 293*. pp.1-16. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126194
- Toro. (2022). *Hva betyr klodemerket*. Retrieved from Toro: https://toro.no/hva-betyr-klodemerket/
- Turunen, & Halme, M. (2021). Communicating actionable sustainability information to consumers: The Shades of Green instrument for fashion. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 297*, 126605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126605
- UN General Assembly. (1987). Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: Our common future. United Nations. Retrieved from Sustainability: <u>https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/139811?ln=en#record-files-collapse-header</u>
- UN General Assembly. (2005). 2005 World Summit Outcome : resolution / adopted by the General Assembly. A/RES/60/1, available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/44168a910.html [accessed 22 September 2022]: United Nations.
- United Nations. (2022a). *Towards a net-zero future The UN Campaign for Individual Action*. Retrieved from United Nations Act Now: <u>https://www.un.org/en/actnow</u>
- United Nations. (2022b). Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development . Retrieved from United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs: <u>https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda</u>
- United Nations. (2022c). Goal 12: Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns. Retrieved from Sustainable development goals : <u>https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-consumption-production/</u>

- United Nations. (2022d). *13 Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts*. Retrieved from United Nations, Department of Eeconomic and Social affairs, Sustainable development: https://sdgs.un.org/goals/goal13
- United Nations. (2022, e) Global CO2 Emissions Rebounded to Their Highest Level in History in 2021 . Retrieved from United Nations Climate Change : https://unfccc.int/news/global-co2-emissions-rebounded-to-their-highest-level-inhistory-in-2021
- United Nations. (n.d). *Causes and Effects of Climate Change*. Retrieved from United Nations Climate Action: https://www.un.org/en/climatechange/science/causes-effects-climatechange
- Webster, F. E., & Keller, K. L. (2004). A roadmap for branding in industrial markets. *Journal* of Brand Management, 11(5), 388–402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.bm.2540184</u>
- Wertenbroch, K. .. (1998). Consumption Self-Control by Rationing Purchase Quantities of Virtue and Vice. *Marketing Science*, *17 (4)*, pp. 317–37.
- Whitehead, J. C., Weddell, M. S., & Groothuis, P. A. (2016). Mitigating hypothetical bias in stated preference data: Evidence from sports tourism. *Economic Inquiry*, 54(1), 605-611. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/ecin.12253
- Willer, H., Schaack, D., & Lernoud, J. (2018). Organic farming and market development in Europe and the European Union. *in The World of Organic Agriculture: Statistics and Emerging Trends 2018, eds H. Willer and J. Lernoud (Frick und Bonn: Research Institute of Organic Agriculture (FiBL), Frick und IFOAM - Organics International)*, pp. 218–256.
- Wilson, J. P. (2015). The triple bottom line Undertaking an economic, social, and environmental retail sustainability strategy. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, pp. Vol. 43 No. 4/5, 2015 pp. 432-447. Doi: 10.1108/IJRDM-11-2013-0210

Zimmerman, N. (2020, February 5). *So, Is organic Food actually more sustainable?* Retrieved from Columbia climate School: <u>https://news.climate.columbia.edu/2020/02/05/organic-sustainable-food/</u>

Yang, D., Lu, Y., Xhu, W., SU, C., (2015) Going green: how different advertising appeals impact green consumption behaviour. *Journal of Business Research 69*. Pp. 2663-2675. Doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.04.004</u>

Appendices

Appendix A: Tables in the literature

Appendix A.1: Sustainability label categorization based on focus area

Focus area	Label	Lead Stakeholder	Information
Environment	EU Eco Label	Government	Volunatry
	Miljømerket	NGO	Voluntary
	svanen		
	Klodemerket	Company	Voluntary
Ethics/Social	Austalia Ethical	Guvernement	Voluntary
	clothing		
	Fairtrade	NGO	Voluntary
	C.A.F.E Practices	Company	Voluntary

Appendix A.2: ISO categorization of eco-labels

Туре	Description	Example
Type 1	Voluntary, multiple-criteria-based, third-party programs that awards a license that authorizes the use of environmental labels on products indicating overall environmental preference of a product within a particular product category based on life cycle	EU Eco-label
TYPE 2	Informative environmental self-declaration claims	Klodemerket
TYPE 3	Voluntary programs that provide quantified environmental data of a product, under pre-set categories of parameters set by a quantified third party	Fairtrade

Success factors	Guidelines	Reference
The characteristics	The eco-label should be	Pieters, R., & Wedel, M. (2004, April 1).
of the eco label	easy to recognize and	Attention Capture and Transfer in Advertising:
	simple, using more	Brand, Pictorial, and Text-Size Effects. Journal
	visual elements than	of Marketing vol. 68, pp. 35-50.
	textual elements.	
Eco-	The eco label should be	Donato & Adiguzel, (2022, July). Visual
label presentation	presented in relatively	complexity of eco-labels and product
at the	big formats at the front	evaluations in online setting: Is simple always
packaging/ads.	of the packaging and	better? Journal of Retailing and Consumer
	ideally placed close to	Services Volume 67.
	the brand- or corporate	https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2022.102961
	name.	
Additional	The sustainability label	Aprile, M. C., & Punzo, G. (2022). How
information	should be implemented	environmental sustainability labels affect food
	along with efficient	choices: Assessing consumer preferences in
	informational strategies	southern Italy. Journal of Cleaner Production
	to raise customer	(332).
	awareness	
Integrating	Elements from the eco-	Supphellen, M. (2020, Oktober). Hvorfor og
sustainable	labels positioning	hvordan integrere bærekraft i
elements into the	should be brought into	merkeposisjoneringen. Magma, pp. 44-54.
brand position	the brand positioning.	
Criteria for	The admittance must be	Keller, & Swaminathan. (2019). Strategic Brand
admitting	based on calculations on	Management: Building, measuring, and
participants into	climate emissions to	Managing Brand Equity. UK: Pearson
the labeling	ensure the legitimacy of	Education Limited. UK: Pearson Education
program	the eco label.	Limited.
	There should be	
	outlined certain	
	guidelines or	
	requirements that label	
	users must adhere to in	
	terms of sustainability	
	communications.	

Appendix A.3: Various success factors for labels

Appendix B: Questionnaire

Criteria:

Age 18+, N = 240, Geo = Norway

Demography:

Adjust gender to this:

- 1. Kvinne
- 2. Mann
- 3. Ikke binært/tredje kjønn
- 4. Foretrekker å ikke si

Agegroups, use these:

- o 18-29 år
- o 30-39 år
- o 40-49 år
- o 50-59 år
- o 60+ år

Region, use these:

- o Nord-Norge
- Midt-Norge
- 0 Vestlandet
- o Østlandet
- o Sørlandet inkludert TeVe
- \circ Oslo

Introductory information

Info_1

Takk for at du tar deg tid til å svare på denne undersøkelsen!

På neste side vil du se en tekst fra en hjemmeside til en bedrift. Les teksten <u>nøye</u> og klikk deg videre til spørsmålene.

On next page, show 1 of the contrived web pages pr respondent (make a quota so that 40 people see each). Then make a new page with only info_2 text. Then show Q1 on the next page and so on.

REKLAME 1_1) Se på utdraget fra hjemmesiden og les produktbeskrivelsen nøye. *Show to 40 people*



REKLAME 1_2) Se på utdraget fra hjemmesiden og les produktbeskrivelsen nøye. *Show to 40 people*



REKLAME 2_1) Se på utdraget fra hjemmesiden og les produktbeskrivelsen nøye. *Show to 40 people*



REKLAME 2_2) Se på utdraget fra hjemmesiden og les produktbeskrivelsen nøye. *Show to 40 people*



REKLAME 3_1) Se på utdraget fra hjemmesiden og les produktbeskrivelsen nøye. *Show to 40 people*



REKLAME 3_3) Se på utdraget fra hjemmesiden og les produktbeskrivelsen nøye. *Show to 40 people*



Opinion questions

Info_2

Nå vil vi stille deg noen spørsmål om hvordan du oppfattet utdraget fra hjemmesiden du nettopp så.

Q1 (Included for other research)

Q2: H	vor uenig	eller eni	g er du	i følgende	påstander:
· ·	0		0	0	1

- Q2-A: Jeg har sans for produktet som ble vist
 - Q2- B: Dette er et godt produkt
 - Q2- C: Dette produktet er fristende

Scale:

0	1 Helt uenig	
0	2	
0	3	
0	4	
0	5	
0	6	
0	7 Helt enig	

Q3: Hvor uenig eller enig er du i følgende påstander:

- Q3-A: Det er sannsynlig at jeg kommer til å vurdere å kjøpe dette produktet i løpet av de neste ukene
- Q3-B: Det er sannsynlig at jeg kommer til å kjøpe dette produktet i løpet av de neste ukene

Scale:

- o 1 Helt uenig
- o 2
- o 3
- o 4
- o 5
- o 6
- Helt enig

Q4: Hvor uenig eller enig er du i følgende påstander:

- 1. Q4-A: Dette produktet er bra for miljøet
- 2. Q4-B: Dette produktet bidrar til å redusere klimaproblemene
- 3. Q4-C: Dette produktet bidrar til mer sosial bærekraft
- 4. Q4-D: Dette produktet er sosialt ansvarlig

Scale:

o 1 Helt uenig

Q5:Hvor uenig eller enig er du i følgende påstander:

- 1. Q5-A: Klima og miljø er saker som opptar meg
- 2. Q5-B: Bærekraftsmålene er viktige for meg
- 3. Q5-C: Det er alt for mye snakk om bærekraft
- 4. Q5-D: Min oppfatting er at kategorien [insert pipe word] generelt er bærekraftig

Scale:

0	1 Helt uenig
0	2
0	3
0	4
0	5
0	6
0	Helt enig

Q6: Hvor ofte spiser du produkter som inngår i kategorien [insert piped word]?

Scale:

- o Ukentlig
- Ca 2-3 ganger pr måned
- Ca. 1 gang i måneden
- o Sjeldnere enn 1 gang i måneden
- o Aldri

Q7: I produktbeskrivelsen du så er det med et miljømerke. Hvor uenig eller enig er du i den følgende påstanden: Det er bra at [insert pipe word] har tatt i bruk et slikt miljømerke.

Scale:

0	1 Helt uenig
0	2
0	3
0	4
0	5
0	6
0	Helt enig

End of survey -

Appendix C: Data-analysis

Appendix C1: Descriptive statistics and correlations

C1.1 Overall descriptive statistics of questionnaire – frequencies.

						I ikeliheed te		This product is	The product	The product	The product is	Climate and	The	People talk to		
				It is a good	The product is	consider	Likelihood to	good for the	reduce climate	more social	socially	issues concern	goals are	sustainability	Evaluation of	Purchase
Mes	Cat		I like the product	product	tempting	nurchasing	purchasing	environment	issues	sustainability	responsible	me	important to me	(reversed)	label use	frequency
Not integrated	Grandiosa	N Valid	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40
rormegnied	Grandiova	Missing	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Mean	4.05	1.93	3.78	2.93	2.88	3.83	3.55	3.28	3.45	4.72	4.55	2.88	4.63	3.1000
		Std Deviation	1.449	1.421	1.544	1.670	1.727	1.217	1.449	1.339	1.358	1.432	1.648	1.742	1.644	1.19400
		Skawnaez	- 517	- 313	- 086	472	705	- 456	- 158	140	143	- 590	- 672	967	- 269	084
		Std Error of Skowness	374	374	374	374	374	374	374	374	374	374	374	374	374	374
		Kurtacia	311	056	- 109	- 809	- 164	- 097	- 853	- 316	055	- 003	- 231	256	- 333	- 912
		Std. Error of Kurtosis	.733	.733	.733	733	.733	.733	733	.733	733	733	733	.733	.733	733
	Toro	N Valid	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40
	1010	N Valid Missing	40				40	40	40	40	40					40
		Maan	1.95	4.08	1.50	141	3.18	4 30	1.73	3.45	3.73	533	5.00	111	4.75	2 4750
		Std Deviation	1.724	1.716	1.601	2 123	1 933	1.814	1.826	1.739	1.710	1.607	1.881	2.055	1.836	1.06187
		Elemented	- 077	. 026	059	253	300	- 473	111	022	032	- 758	- 657	488	- 716	813
		Skewness Ed. Error of Ekonomous	-,077	020	374	.233	374	374	374	374	374	736	374	374	730	174
		Std. Effor of Skewness	- 796	- 743	-1.228	-1.329	-1.130	- 343	.574	- 202	- 412	. 073	- 422	- 886	- 220	
		Kurtosis	-,750	713	711	-1.320	-1.130	713	040	707	711	073	711	880	711	713
	DD	Std. Error of Kuriosis	.755	.735	.733	.755	.735	.733	.733	.733	.755	.735	.733	.735	.733	.733
	Darchia	N Valid	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40
		Missing	1 86	4.22	1.63	2.76	2.68	4.13	1 70	2.45	3.40	4.35	415	3.55	4.65	2 7260
		Mean Std. Davidstan	1.260	4.22	1.628	2.76	1.620	4.13	1.426	1,210	1.128	4.33	4.13	2,112	4.03	1.44080
		Std. Deviation	1.309	1.550	1.028	1.072	1.039	1.244	1.450	1.519	1.128	1.733	1./91	2.112	1.394	1.44980
		Skewness	094	101	104	.272	.371	501	515	-,415	303	109	008	.374	548	.509
		Std. Error of Skewness	.3/9	.3/4	.3/4	.3/9	.3/4	.3/4	.5/4	.3/4	.5/4	.3/4	.3/4	.3/4	.374	.3/4
		Kurtosis	089	125	912	-1.432	-1.402	1.112	214	080	.231	80/	880	-1.132	024	-1.190
Terrented	C	Std. Error of Kurtosis	.735	.133	.733	.733	.733	.755	./33	.733	.133	./33	.735	.133	.733	.733
megrateu	Orandiosa	N Valid	40	40	40		40	40	40	40	40	40	-	40	40	40
		Missing	4.28	4.08	4.12	3.50	2.22	4.22	2.00	2.02	4.00	4.63	4.45	3.40	4.72	2.0750
		Mean Std. Davidsion	4.20	1.402	4.13	1.605	3.33	4.22	3.70	3.73	4.00	4.03	1,024	3.40	4.72	2.9730
		Std. Deviation	1.365	1.405	1.004	1.093	210	001	1.014	026	210	022	1.934	2.075	1.320	.9990a
		Skewness	.007	140	.100	01/	.319	091	077	-,030	210	077	374	373	.107	110
		Std. Effor of Skewness	.374	374	- 482		- 786	- 114	.374	.374		.1.250	.3/4		.574	
		Kurtosis	*.230	.320	462	919	780	114	370	-,400	-,401	-1.2.37	770	-1.173	072	297
	Tone	N Valid	.733	.733	.733	.733	.733	./33	./33	.733	./33	./33	.733	.733	.733	.733
	1010	re Vand	-0		-10	-0	40	-40	-40	40	40	40	-0	-0	40	0
		Missing	1 83	4.18	1.63	3.70	3.49	3.05	3.76	1.18	3.70	4.79	4.36	3.63	4.60	2.6260
		Mean End, Davidation	3.83	4.10	3.35	2.70	2.40	3.93	3.73	3.58	3.70	4./0	4.23	3.33	4.30	2.5230
		Std. Deviation	1.002	1.585	1.530	575	1.577	1,407	1.721	1.480	1.032	1.544	1.029	1.807	2.025	.90044
		Skewness	-,100	038	.190	.373	.363	.399	.314	.307	.400	438	404	.394	-/438	.363
		Std. Effor of Skewness	.3/4	.5/4	.3/4	.3/4	.3/4	.3/4	.3/4	.3/4	.3/4	.3/4	.3/4	.3/4	.374	.374
		Kurtosis	933		-,408	723	-1.209	.432	*.373	.208	001	-,402	-, 148	833	820	*.099
	BaseBas	Stu. Error of Kurtosis	.133	.733	.733	.733	.733	./33	./33	./33	./33	./33	.733	.733	.733	.733
	DareBra	rs vand	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40
		Missing	0	0	0	380	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2.69	0	0
		Mean	4.55	4.55	5.98	2.80	2.80	4.55	4,43	4.15	4.18	9.97	4.88	2.58	5.10	2.4/50
		Std. Deviation	1.617	1.362	1.672	1.924	1.977	1.552	1.781	1.442	1.551	1.702	1./13	1.331	1.014	1.33830
		Skewness	270	068	.041	.481	.00/	828	372	384	1//	649	-,409	.721	/80	.4/5
		Std. Error of Skewness	.374	.374	.374	.374	.374	.374	.374	.374	.374	.374	.374	.374	.374	.374
		Kurtosis	080	193	528	-1.263	980	./50	478	.411	085	106	469	579	.249	983
		Std. Error of Kurtosis	.755	.755	.733	.733	.755	.733	.753	./33	.755	.755	.755	.733	.755	.753

C1.2. Frequencies of constructs and central variables, split on message and product category

Message	Product Category		Product Attitude	Sum Perceived Sustainability	Perceived environmental sustainability	Perceived social sustainability	Perceived Importance of Sustainability	Purchase Intention	Evaluation of label use	Purchase frequency
Not integrated	Grandiosa	Mean	3.9167	3.5250	3.6875	3.3625	4.8000	2.9000	4.63	3.1000
		Std. Deviation	1.40967	1.19936	1.24904	1.29093	1.46137	1.67638	1.644	1.19400
	Toro	Mean	3.8417	3.8000	4.0125	3.5875	5.0000	3.3000	4.75	2.4750
		Std. Deviation	1.59948	1.62729	1.73755	1.65981	1.67093	1.98003	1.836	1.06187
	BareBra Mea		3.9000	3.6688	3.9125	3.4250	4.3167	2.7250	4.65	2.7250
		Std. Deviation	1.34652	1.06727	1.18693	1.16877	1.72950	1.59707	1.594	1.44980
Integrated	Grandiosa	Mean	4.1583	4.0125	4.0625	3.9625	4.5583	3.4125	4.72	2.9750
		Std. Deviation	1.47145	1.44886	1.45085	1.53751	1.80438	1.69421	1.320	.99968
	Toro	Mean	3.8417	3.6938	3.8500	3.5375	4.5000	2.5875	4.50	2.5250
		Std. Deviation	1.41821	1.36754	1.48151	1.43396	1.30308	1.44065	2.025	.96044
	BareBra	Mean	4.2167	4.3188	4.4750	4.1625	5.0917	2.8000	5.10	2.4750
		Std. Deviation	1.60048	1.47630	1.61702	1.44288	1.44803	1.90748	1.614	1.35850

				Perceived		
			Personal attitude	Sustainability of		
Product cate	egory		to sustainability	Product category		
Grandiosa	Ν	Valid	80	80		
		Missing	0	0		
	Mean		4.6792	3.13		
	Median		4.8333	3.00		
	Std. Devi	ation	1.63596	1.195		
	Skewnes	5	432	.118		
	Std. Error	r of Skewness	.269	.269		
	Kurtosis		611	.259		
	Std. Error	r of Kurtosis	.532	.532		
Toro	Ν	Valid	80	80		
		Missing	0	0		
	Mean		4.7500	3.21		
	Median		4.6667	3.00		
	Std. Devi	ation	1.50993	1.481		
	Skewnes	5	331	.318		
	Std. Error	r of Skewness	.269	.269		
	Kurtosis		293	049		
	Std. Error	r of Kurtosis	.532	.532		
BareBra	Ν	Valid	80	80		
		Missing	0	0		
	Mean		4.7042	3.60		
	Median		4.8333	4.00		
	Std. Devi	ation	1.63213	1.143		
	Skewnes	S	281	044		
	Std. Erro	r of Skewness	.269	.269		
	Kurtosis		880	.298		
	Std. Erro	r of Kurtosis	.532	.532		

C1.3 – *Frequencies of perceived importance of sustainability and perceived sustainability of product category, split on product category.*

C1.4 – Frequency of response variables (including both aspects of sutsianability), split on message. Statistics

Mes			SumSustainabilit y	Perceived environmental sustainability	Perceived social sustainability	Product Attitude
Not integrated	Ν	Valid	120	120	120	120
		Missing	0	0	0	0
	Mean		3.6646	3.8708	3.4583	3.89
	Std. Dev	iation	1.31351	1.40751	1.38051	1.444
	Skewnes	s	140	156	.047	129
	Std. Erro	r of Skewness	.221	.221	.221	.221
	Kurtosis		160	142	287	463
	Std. Erro	r of Kurtosis	.438	.438	.438	.438
Integrated	Ν	Valid	120	120	120	120
		Missing	0	0	0	0
	Mean		4.0083	4.1292	3.8875	4.07
	Std. Dev	iation	1.44250	1.52775	1.48304	1.495
	Skewnes	s	126	100	115	060
	Std. Erro	r of Skewness	.221	.221	.221	.221
	Kurtosis		242	274	229	392
	Std. Erro	r of Kurtosis	.438	.438	.438	.438

C1.5 - Correlation matrix Grandiosa

		Age	Gender	Product category	Message	Product Attitude	Sum Sustainability	Perceived environmental sustainability	Perceived social sustainability	Personal atitude sustainability	Purchase Intention	Purchase frequency
Gender	Pearson Correlation	.176										
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.119										
	N	80										
Product category	Pearson Correlation											
	Sig. (2-tailed)											
Manage	N Deserve Completion	80	80	a								
Message	Pearson Correlation	.072	.075									
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.528	.508									
Due du et Attitude	N Bases on Completion	- 081	125	a	085							
Froduct Attitude	Pearson Correlation	001	.125		.065							
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.470	.270		.435							
Sum Sustainability	Pearson Correlation	046	.126	a	.182	.647**						
Sum Sustaining	Sig (2-tailed)	684	265		105	< 001						
	N	80	80	80	80	80						
Perceived environmental	Pearson Correlation	016	.104	a	.139	.592**	.957**					
sustainability	Sig (2-tailed)	.885	.358		.219	<.001	<.001					
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80					
Perceived social	Baarson Correlation	- 071	137	a	200	649**	962**	842**				
sustainability	Pearson Correlation	071	.137		.209	.049	.902	.042				
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.555	.221		.062	<.001	<.001	<.001				
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80				
Personal atitude	Pearson Correlation	.022	.377	.a	074	.124	.295	.315	.253			
sustainability	Sig. (2-tailed)	.847	<.001		.512	.275	.008	.004	.024			
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80			
Purchase Intention	Pearson Correlation	.051	.091		.152	.697**	.459**	.388**	.489	.148		
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.654	.425		.178	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.191		
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80		
Purchase frequency	Pearson Correlation	099	311	.a	057	.323	.210	.203	.200	236*	.304	
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.382	.005		.613	.003	.061	.071	.075	.035	.006	
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	
Evaluation of label use	Pearson Correlation	.032	.345**	.a	.034	.321	.658	.649	.614	.409	.300**	031
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.779	.002		.765	.004	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.007	.782
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80

**• Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

C1.6 - Correlation matrix Toro

		Age	Gender	Product estagory	Message	Product Attitude	Sum Sustainability	Perceived environmental sustainability	Perceived social	Personal atitude	Purchase	Purchase
Carla	Devere Completion	022	Gender	Floduci category	wiessage	Floduct Attitude	Sustainaointy	sustainaointy	sustainaointy	sustainaointy	intention	nequency
Gender	Sig (2 toiled)	.023										
	N	80										
Product category	Pearson Correlation	a	a									
riodaet entegory	Sig (2-tailed)											
	N	. 80	80									
Message	Pearson Correlation	.049	.000	a								
	Sig (2-tailed)	665	1.000									
	N	80	80	80								
Product Attitude	Pearson Correlation	.023	.022	,a	.000							
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.843	.848		1.000							
	N	80	80	80	80							
Sum Sustainability	Pearson Correlation	052	066	. ^a	036	.606**						
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.646	.563		.753	<.001						
	N	80	80	80	80	80						
Perceived environmental	Pearson Correlation	092	069	.a	051	.571**	.952**					
sustainability	Sig. (2-tailed)	.417	.545		.654	<.001	<.001					
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80					
Perceived social	Pearson Correlation	005	056	a	016	.580	.947**	.803**				
sustainability	Sig (2-tailed)	.963	.624		.886	<.001	<.001	<.001				
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80				
Personal atitude	Page on Correlation	- 167	093	a	- 167	104	382**	403**	320**			
sustainability	Fig. (2 tailed)	128	.055		140	350	< 001	< 001				
-	Sig. (2-tailed)	.156	.414		.140	.339	<.001	<.001	.004			
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80			
Purchase Intention	Pearson Correlation	.034	.009	."	204	.735	.488	.417	.512	.105		
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.763	.940		.070	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.353		
	N Contribution	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	5(0**	
Purchase frequency	Pearson Correlation	059	152	."	.025	.491	.233	.151	.294	.006	.560	
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.600	.179		.826	<.001	.038	.182	.008	.961	<.001	
Territor dans a file balance	N Description	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	050
Evaluation of label use	Pearson Correlation	145	036	."	065	.249	.642	.622	.597	.529	.166	059
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.199	.749		.565	.026	<.001	<.001	<.001	.003	.142	.604
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

a. Cannot be computed because at least one of the variables is constant.

C1.7 - Correlation matrix Barebra

							S	Perceived	Perseived cosial	Parconal atituda	Bursheese	Durchasa
		Age	Gender	Product category	Message	Product Attitude	Sustainability	sustainability	sustainability	sustainability	Intention	frequency
Gender	Pearson Correlation	.042										
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.711										
	N	80										
Product category	Pearson Correlation	.*	.*									
	Sig. (2-tailed)											
	N	80	80									
Message	Pearson Correlation	.018	.152	.*								
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.877	.179									
	N	80	80	80								
Product Attitude	Pearson Correlation	045	.086	.*	.108							
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.690	.449		.341							
	N	80	80	80	80							
Sum Sustainability	Pearson Correlation	124	.068	.a	.248	.488						
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.271	.548		.027	<.001						
	N	80	80	80	80	80						
Perceived environmental	Pearson Correlation	067	.046	.*	.197	.420	.949					
sustainability	Sig. (2-tailed)	.553	.687		.080	<.001	<.001					
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80					
Perceived social	Pearson Correlation	171	.084	.a	.274	.506	.942	.788				
sustainability	Sig. (2-tailed)	.129	.458		.014	<.001	<.001	<.001				
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80				
Personal atitude	Pearson Correlation	020	.269	.a	.239	.173	.124	.053	.187			
sustainability	Sig. (2-tailed)	.858	.016		.033	.124	.272	.643	.098			
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80			
Purchase Intention	Pearson Correlation	.052	023	.a	.022	.741	.391	.319**	.423	.193		
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.649	.840		.849	<.001	<.001	.004	<.001	.086		
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80		
Purchase frequency	Pearson Correlation	.009	.098	.a	090	.396	.125	.108	.129	.097	.462	
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.939	.387		.429	<.001	.269	.340	.253	.392	<.001	
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	
Evaluation of label use	Pearson Correlation	184	.154	.a	.141	.370	.714	.656	.695	.331	.329**	.180
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.103	.172		.213	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.003	.003	.111
	N	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80
* Correlation is significant at	the 0.05 level (2-tailed).											

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

C1. 8 Reliability of constructs

Reliability statistics for Product Attitude (overall and split on product category)

Case Processing Summary

		N	%
Cases	Valid	240	100.0
	Excluded ^a	0	.0
	Total	240	100.0

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Case Processing Summary

Product cate	egory		N	%
Grandiosa	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
Toro	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
BareBra	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's	
Alpha	N of Items
.931	3

Reliability Statistics

	Cronbach's	
Product category	Alpha	N of Items
Grandiosa	.956	3
Toro	.912	3
BareBra	.935	3

Reliability statistics for Perceived Environmental Sustainability (overall and split on product category)

		N	0/
		N	%
Cases	Valid	240	100.0
	Excluded ^a	0	.0
	Total	240	100.0

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Product cate	egory		N	%
Grandiosa	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
Toro	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
BareBra	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0

Case Processing Summary

Reliability Statistics

Case Processing Summary

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Reliability Statistics

Case Processing Summary

a ah la		P	Cronbach's	N. Ch
nbachs		Product category	Alpha	N of Items
Alpha	N of Items	Grandiosa	.875	2
870	2	Toro	.871	2
.870	2	BareBra	.860	2

Reliability statistics for Perceived Social Sustainability (overall and split on product category)

Case Processing Summary

		N	%
Cases	Valid	240	100.0
	Excluded ^a	0	.0
	Total	240	100.0

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Product cate	egory		N	%
Grandiosa	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
Toro	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
BareBra	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's	N. 67.
Alpha	N of Items
.906	2

Product category	Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
Grandiosa	.938	2
Toro	.871	2
BareBra	.919	2

Reliability Statistics

Reliability statistics for Sum Perceived Sustainability (overall and split on product category)

Case Pi	Processing Summary					
		N	%			
Cases	Valid	240	100.0			
	Excluded ^a	0	.0			
	Total	240	100.0			
* * .						

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Product cate	egory		N	%
Grandiosa	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
Toro	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
BareBra	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0

Case Processing Summary

Reliability Statistics

Case Processing Summary

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Reliability Statistics Cronbach's Product category Alpha N of Items .938 Cronbach's Grandiosa 4 Alpha N of Items Toro .916 4 BareBra .918 4 .923 4

<u>Reliability statistics for Personal Attitude to Sustainability (overall and split on product category)</u>

Product cate	egory		N	%
Grandiosa	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
Toro	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
BareBra	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Reliability Statistics

Product category	Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
Grandiosa	.906	3
Toro	.802	3
BareBra	.887	3

Case Processing Summary

		N	%
Cases	Valid	240	100.0
	Excluded ^a	0	.0
	Total	240	100.0

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
.865	3

Reliability statistics for Purchase Intention (overall and split on product category)

Case Processing Summary

		N	%
Cases	Valid	240	100.0
	Excluded ^a	0	.0
	Total	240	100.0

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Product cate	egory		N	%
Grandiosa	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
Toro	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0
BareBra	Cases	Valid	80	100.0
		Excluded ^a	0	.0
		Total	80	100.0

Case Processing Summary

Reliability Statistics

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's Alpha N of Items .943 2

	Cronbach's	
Product category	Alpha	N of Items
Grandiosa	.963	2
Toro	.926	2
BareBra	.942	2

Appendix C2: Analysis H1 A and B

C.2.1 Differences in dependent variables between message groups

ANOVA

		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
SumSustainability	Between Groups	7.090	1	7.090	3.725	.055
	Within Groups	452.929	238	1.903		
	Total	460.018	239			
Perceived environmental	Between Groups	4.004	1	4.004	1.856	.174
sustainability	Within Groups	513.496	238	2.158		
	Total	517.500	239			
Perceived social sustainability	Between Groups	11.051	1	11.051	5.384	.021
	Within Groups	488.523	238	2.053		
	Total	499.574	239			
Product Attitude	Between Groups	2.078	1	2.078	.962	.328
	Within Groups	514.151	238	2.160		
	Total	516.229	239			

C2.2 Levenes test: Oneway - Dependent variables between message groups

Tests of Homogeneity of Variances

		Levene Statistic	df1	df2	Sig.
SumSustainability	Based on Mean	.300	1	238	.585
	Based on Median	.479	1	238	.489
	Based on Median and with adjusted df	.479	1	237.592	.489
	Based on trimmed mean	.324	1	238	.570
Perceived environmental	Based on Mean	.698	1	238	.404
sustainability	Based on Median	.677	1	238	.411
	Based on Median and with adjusted df	.677	1	236.818	.411
	Based on trimmed mean	.741	1	238	.390
Perceived social sustainability	Based on Mean	.005	1	238	.944
	Based on Median	.001	1	238	.974
	Based on Median and with adjusted df	.001	1	237.976	.974
	Based on trimmed mean	.002	1	238	.968
Product Attitude	Based on Mean	.061	1	238	.805
	Based on Median	.123	1	238	.726
	Based on Median and with adjusted df	.123	1	237.819	.726
	Based on trimmed mean	.068	1	238	.795

C2.3 ANOVA split on product categories measuring differences in DV's between message **groups** Descriptives

95% Confidence Interval for Mean										
Product Category Grandiosa Sum Perceived Sustainability Not in			N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Minimum	Maximum
Grandiosa	Sum Perceived Sustainability	Not integrated	40	3.5250	1.19936	.18964	3.1414	3.9086	1.00	5.75
		Integrated	40	4.0125	1.44886	.22909	3.5491	4.4759	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	3.7688	1.34410	.15027	3.4696	4.0679	1.00	7.00
	Perceived environmental	Not integrated	40	3.6875	1.24904	.19749	3.2880	4.0870	1.00	6.00
	sustainability	Integrated	40	4.0625	1.45085	.22940	3.5985	4.5265	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	3.8750	1.35828	.15186	3.5727	4.1773	1.00	7.00
	Perceived social sustainability	Not integrated	40	3.3625	1.29093	.20411	2.9496	3.7754	1.00	6.00
		Integrated	40	3.9625	1.53751	.24310	3.4708	4.4542	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	3.6625	1.44252	.16128	3.3415	3.9835	1.00	7.00
	Product Attitude	Not integrated	40	3.9167	1.40967	.22289	3.4658	4.3675	1.00	7.00
		Integrated	40	4.1583	1.47145	.23266	3.6877	4.6289	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	4.0375	1.43690	.16065	3.7177	4.3573	1.00	7.00
Toro	Sum Perceived Sustainability	Not integrated	40	3.8000	1.62729	.25730	3.2796	4.3204	1.00	7.00
		Integrated	40	3.6938	1.36754	.21623	3.2564	4.1311	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	3.7469	1.49445	.16708	3.4143	4.0794	1.00	7.00
	Perceived environmental	Not integrated	40	4.0125	1.73755	.27473	3.4568	4.5682	1.00	7.00
	sustainability	Integrated	40	3.8500	1.48151	.23425	3.3762	4.3238	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	3.9313	1.60644	.17961	3.5738	4.2887	1.00	7.00
	Perceived social sustainability	Not integrated	40	3.5875	1.65981	.26244	3.0567	4.1183	1.00	7.00
		Integrated	40	3.5375	1.43396	.22673	3.0789	3.9961	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	3.5625	1.54136	.17233	3.2195	3.9055	1.00	7.00
	Product Attitude	Not integrated	40	3.8417	1.59948	.25290	3.3301	4.3532	1.00	6.67
		Integrated	40	3.8417	1.41821	.22424	3.3881	4.2952	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	3.8417	1.50197	.16793	3.5074	4.1759	1.00	7.00
BareBra	Sum Perceived Sustainability	Not integrated	40	3.6688	1.06727	.16875	3.3274	4.0101	1.00	6.00
		Integrated	40	4.3188	1.47630	.23342	3.8466	4.7909	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	3.9938	1.32107	.14770	3.6998	4.2877	1.00	7.00
	Perceived environmental	Not integrated	40	3.9125	1.18693	.18767	3.5329	4.2921	1.00	6.00
	sustainability	Integrated	40	4.4750	1.61702	.25567	3.9579	4.9921	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	4.1938	1.43750	.16072	3.8738	4.5137	1.00	7.00
	Perceived social sustainability	Not integrated	40	3.4250	1.16877	.18480	3.0512	3.7988	1.00	6.00
		Integrated	40	4.1625	1.44288	.22814	3.7010	4.6240	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	3.7938	1.35640	.15165	3.4919	4.0956	1.00	7.00
	Product Attitude	Not integrated	40	3.9000	1.34652	.21290	3.4694	4.3306	1.00	7.00
		Integrated	40	4.2167	1.60048	.25306	3.7048	4.7285	1.00	7.00
		Total	80	4.0583	1.47818	.16527	3.7294	4.3873	1.00	7.00

ANOVA

Product Cat	tegory		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Grandiosa	Sum Perceived Sustainability	Between Groups	4.753	1	4.753	2.687	.105
		Within Groups	137.969	78	1.769		
		Total	142.722	79			
	Perceived environmental	Between Groups	2.813	1	2.813	1.535	.219
	sustainability	Within Groups	142.938	78	1.833		
		Total	145.750	79			
	Perceived social sustainability	Between Groups	7.200	1	7.200	3.573	.062
		Within Groups	157.188	78	2.015		
		Total	164.388	79			
	Product Attitude	Between Groups	1.168	1	1.168	.563	.455
		Within Groups	161.942	78	2.076		
		Total	163.110	79			
Toro	Sum Perceived Sustainability	Between Groups	.226	1	.226	.100	.753
		Within Groups	176.211	78	2.259		
		Total	176.437	79			
	Perceived environmental	Between Groups	.528	1	.528	.203	.654
	sustainability	Within Groups	203.344	78	2.607		
		Total	203.872	79			
	Perceived social sustainability	Between Groups	.050	1	.050	.021	.886
		Within Groups	187.637	78	2.406		
		Total	187.687	79			
	Product Attitude	Between Groups	.000	1	.000	.000	1.000
		Within Groups	178.217	78	2.285		
		Total	178.217	79			
BareBra	Sum Perceived Sustainability	Between Groups	8.450	1	8.450	5.093	.027
		Within Groups	129.422	78	1.659		
		Total	137.872	79			
	Perceived environmental	Between Groups	6.328	1	6.328	3.146	.080
	sustainability	Within Groups	156.919	78	2.012		
		Total	163.247	79			
	Perceived social sustainability	Between Groups	10.878	1	10.878	6.310	.014
	-	Within Groups	134.469	78	1.724		
		Total	145.347	79			
	Product Attitude	Between Groups	2.006	1	2.006	.917	.341
		Within Groups	170.611	78	2.187		
		Total	172.617	79			

Appendix C3: Analysis H2-A and B

C3.1: ANOVA – perceived sustainability of product categories between categories

ANOVA

Perseived Sustainability of Product Category

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	10.225	2	5.113	3.112	.046
Within Groups	389.338	237	1.643		
Total	399.563	239			

C3.2: Hayes process Y=Product Attitude, X=Message, W=Product Category

Model Y X W	: 1 : Att : Mes : Cat						
Sample Size:	240						
****** OUTCOM Att	******** E VARIABL	******** E :	*****	*****	*****	******	*****
Model	Summary						
	R .0646	R-sq .0042	MSE 2.1783	F .3293	df1 3.0000	df2 236.0000	р •8042
Model							
	C	oeff	se	t	р	LLCI	ULCI
consta	nt 3.	7917	.7971	4.7569	.0000	2.2214	5.3620
Mes	•	1111	.5041	.2204	.8257	8820	1.1043
Cat Int 1		0458 0375	.3090	1242	.9012	//2/	.0811
IIIC_I	•	0375	.2334	.1007	.0725	4222	•4972
Produc Int_1	t terms k	ey: Mes	x	Cat			
Test(s) of high	est order	unconditi	onal interac	tion(s):		
	R2-chng	F	d	f1 df	2	р	
X*W	.0001	.0258	1.00	00 236.000	0.87	25	
 Eo		at. Maa	()				
FU	Mod v	ar: Cat	(W)				
Condit	ional eff	ects of th	e focal p	redictor at	values of	the moderat	or(s):
	Cat	Effect	se	t	D	LLCI	ULCI
1	.1818	.1554	.2697	.5762	.5650	3760	.6868
2	.0000	.1861	.1905	.9768	.3297	1893	.5615
2	.8182	.2168	.2697	.8037	.4224	3146	.7482

Model Y X W	: 1 : SumS : Mes : Cat						
Sample Size:	240						
***** OUTCOM SumS	******** E VARIABLI	********* : :	*****	*****	*****	*****	****
Model	Summary R .1428	R−sq .0204	MSE 1.9095	F 1.6372	df1 3.0000	df2 236.0000	р .1814
Model							
consta		beff	se	t	р		ULCI
Mes	nt 5.3	1813	.4720	- 3840	.7013	7486	4.0090
Cat	(0094	.3455	0271	.9784	6900	.6712
Int_1	.(0813	.2185	.3719	.7103	3492	.5117
Produc Int_1	t terms ke	ey: Mes	x	Cat			
Test(s) of high	est order i	unconditi	onal interac	tion(s):		
	R2-chng	F	d	f1 df	2	р	
X*W	.0006	.1383	1.00	00 236.000	0.71	03	
Fo	cal predio Mod va	ct: Mes ar: Cat	(X) (W)				
Condit	ional effe	ects of the	e focal p	redictor at	values of	the moderat	or(s):
	Cat	Effect	se	t	р	LLCI	ULCI
1	.1818	.2773	.2526	1.0979	.2734	2203	.7748
2	.0000	.3438	.1784	1.9269	.0552	0077	.6952
2	.8182	.4102	.2526	1.6243	.1056	0873	.9078

C3.3. Hayes process Y=Sum Perceived sustainability, X=Message, W=Product Category

There are no statistical significance transition points within the observed range of the moderator found using the Johnson-Neyman method.

Appendix C4: Analysis H3 – A

Independent Samples Test

C4.1. Independent t-test comparing ratings from different groups of perceived importance of sustainability (groups defined by cut-off point 3.5)

		Levene's Tes Va	t for Equality of riances				t-te	st for Equality of Me	ans		
	-					Significance Std. Error			Std. Error	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference	
		F	Sig.	t	df	One-Sided p	Two-Sided p	Mean Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
Att	Equal variances assumed	2.070	.151	2.120	238	.018	.035	.48812	.23023	.03457	.94167
	Equal variances not assumed			2.002	73.620	.024	.049	.48812	.24377	.00236	.97388
SumS	Equal variances assumed	.636	.426	3.819	238	<.001	<.001	.81318	.21295	.39367	1.23269
	Equal variances not assumed			3.796	78.475	<.001	<.001	.81318	.21421	.38677	1.23959
Purchase Intention	Equal variances assumed	.903	.343	2.783	238	.003	.006	.75101	.26981	.21949	1.28253
	Equal variances not assumed			2.915	84.437	.002	.005	.75101	.25763	.23872	1.26330
Evaluation of label use	Equal variances assumed	1.711	.192	4.919	238	<.001	<.001	1.244	.253	.746	1.743
	Equal variances not assumed			4.578	72.378	<.001	<.001	1.244	.272	.703	1.786

C4.2 Comparison of means across all values for the perceived importance of sustainability index

Mes	PersA	Att	Sus	Mes	PersA	Att	Sus	Change Attitude	Change Sus
Not integrated	Helt Uenig	2,44	2,42	Integrated	Helt Uenig	1,00	1,25	-0,72	-0,58
	1.33	1,00	3,00]	1.33	2,50	1,75	0,75	-0,63
	1.67	3,33	2,00]	1.67	3,67	3,75	0,17	0,88
	2	2,00	2,75]	2	4,22	4,75	1,11	1,00
	2.33	3,06	2,96]	2.33	4,25	3,44	0,60	0,24
	2.67	4,08	3,44]	2.67	5,11	4,08	0,51	0,32
	3	3,47	3,15		3	3,52	3,36	0,03	0,10
	3.33	5,50	3,25]	3.33	4,67	4,67	-0,42	0,71
	3.67	4,27	4,30		3.67	3,83	3,10	-0,22	-0,60
	4	3,67	3,54		4	4,37	4,10	0,35	0,28
	4.33	4,30	3,78]	4.33	4,15	3,98	-0,07	0,10
	4.67	3,96	4,00]	4.67	3,48	3,69	-0,24	-0,15
	5	3,78	3,77]	5	3,67	3,89	-0,06	0,06
	5.33	4,21	3,91]	5.33	4,64	4,48	0,21	0,28
	5.67	5,33	4,75]	5.67	4,89	5,75	-0,22	0,50
	6	4,04	3,72]	6	4,50	4,38	0,23	0,33
	6.33	4,50	4,33]	6.33	4,76	5,18	0,13	0,42
	6.67	4,13	4,06]	6.67	4,00	4,92	-0,06	0,43
	Helt Enig	3,19	3,46		Helt Enig	3,84	3,94	0,32	0,24
	Total	3,89	3,66		Total	4,07	4,01	0,09	0,17

C4.3. Frequency statistics on response variables, split on low and high concerns for sustainability (cut-off value at 3.5) and message type.

Statistics

Group_PerAt	Mes			SumS	Att
Low values	Not integrated	Ν	Valid	27	27
			Missing	0	0
		Mean		2.8426	3.3333
		Median		2.5000	3.0000
		Std. Dev	viation	1.09665	1.57437
	Integrated	Ν	Valid	24	24
			Missing	0	0
		Mean		3.5938	3.8889
		Median		3.5000	4.0000
		Std. Dev	viation	1.53370	1.55625
High values	Not integrated	Ν	Valid	93	93
			Missing	0	0
		Mean		3.9032	4.0466
		Median		4.0000	4.0000
		Std. Dev	viation	1.27903	1.37137
	Integrated	Ν	Valid	96	96
			Missing	0	0
		Mean		4.1120	4.1181
		Median		4.0000	4.1667
		Std. Dev	viation	1.40809	1.48441

C4.4. ANOVA: Differences in response variables between message groups, split on low and high concerns for sustainability

ANOVA

Tosplit			Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Low concerns	Att	Between Groups	3.922	1	3.922	1.599	.212
		Within Groups	120.148	49	2.452		
		Total	124.070	50			
	SumS	Between Groups	7.169	1	7.169	4.115	.048
		Within Groups	85.370	49	1.742		
		Total	92.539	50			
High concerns	Att	Between Groups	.241	1	.241	.118	.732
		Within Groups	382.349	187	2.045		
		Total	382.590	188			
	SumS	Between Groups	2.059	1	2.059	1.136	.288
		Within Groups	338.863	187	1.812		
		Total	340.921	188			

	************* Model : 1 Y : Att	***********	*****	*****	*******	******	*****
	X : Mes W : Per	sA					
	Sample Size: 240						
	************ OUTCOME VARI Att	**************************************	*****	*****	****	*****	****
	Model Summar	y R ca	MCE	F	d£1	452	
	.1508	.0227	2.1377	۲ 1.8298	3.0000	236.0000	р 1424
	Model						
		coeff	se	t	р	LLCI	ULCI
	constant	2.6886	.9224	2.9147	.0039	.8713	4.5059
	Mes	.4810	.5932	.8108	.4183	6877	1.6496
	PersA	.2151	.1854	1.1605	.2470	1501	.5804
	Int_1	0629	.1194	5267	.5989	2980	.1723
	Product term	is key:					
	Int_1 :	Mes	x	PersA			
	Test(s) of h	ighest order	unconditi	onal intera	ction(s):		
	R2-ch X*W .00	ing 11 .277	F d [*] 74 1.00	f1 d1 00 236.000	12 00 .59	р 89	
	 Focal pr	edict. Mes	(X)				
•	Мо	d var: PersA	(W)				
	Conditional	effects of t	he focal p	redictor at	values of	the moderat	or(s):
	PersA	Effect	se	t	р	LLCI	ULCI
	3.1238	.2846	.2675	1.0639	.2885	2424	.8115
	4.7111	.1848	.1888	.9789	.3286	1871	.5566
	6.2984	.0850	.2674	.3177	.7510	4419	.6118

C4.5. Hayes process - Y: Product Attitude, X: Message, W: Perceived importance of Sustainability

Appendix C5: Analysis H3 – B

C6.1 Hayes Process: DV: Sum Perceived Sustainability, IV: Message, Moderator: Perceived importance of Sustainability

Model : 1 Y : SumS X : Mes : PersA W Sample Size: 240 OUTCOME VARIABLE: SumS Model Summary MSE df1 df2 R R-sq F р .2937 3.0000 .0863 1.7811 7.4270 236.0000 .0001 Model coeff se t LLCI ULCI р constant 2.2363 .8420 2.6560 .0084 .5775 3.8951 Mes .3360 .5415 .6205 .5356 -.7308 1.4027 .5644 PersA .2310 .1692 1.3652 .1735 -.1024 Int_1 .0011 .1090 .0101 .9919 -.2135 .2158 Product terms key: Mes PersA Int_1 : х Test(s) of highest order unconditional interaction(s): R2-chng F df2 df1 p X*W .0000 .0001 1.0000 236.0000 .9919 (X) Focal predict: Mes Mod var: PersA (W) Conditional effects of the focal predictor at values of the moderator(s): PersA Effect LLCI ULCI se t p .1658 .3394 1.3902 -.1416 .8204 3.1238 .2441 4.7111 .3412 .1723 1.9801 .0488 .0017 .6806 6.2984 .3429 1.4048 -.1380 .2441 .1614 .8238

Appendix D1: Discussion

D1.1. Multivariate general model analysis – overall sample

General Linear Model

Between-Subjects Factors

		Value Label	Ν
Product category	1,00	Grandiosa	80
	2,00	Toro	80
	3,00	BareBra	80
Message	1,00	Not integrated	120
	2,00	Integrated	120

Multivariate Tests^a

				Hypothesis		
Effect		Value	F	df	Error df	Sig.
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	,908	768,027 ^b	3,000	234,000	,000
	Wilks' Lambda	,092	768,027 ^b	3,000	234,000	,000
	Hotelling's Trace	9,847	768,027 ^b	3,000	234,000	,000
	Roy's Largest Root	9,847	768,027 ^b	3,000	234,000	,000
Product_category	Pillai's Trace	,018	,699	6,000	470,000	,651
	Wilks' Lambda	,982	,696 ^b	6,000	468,000	,653
	Hotelling's Trace	,018	,694	6,000	466,000	,655
	Roy's Largest Root	,013	,992°	3,000	235,000	,397
Message	Pillai's Trace	,026	2,057 ^b	3,000	234,000	,107
	Wilks' Lambda	,974	2,057 ^b	3,000	234,000	,107
	Hotelling's Trace	,026	2,057 ^b	3,000	234,000	,107
	Roy's Largest Root	,026	2,057 ^b	3,000	234,000	,107

a. Design: Intercept + Product_category + Message

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

D.1.2. Multivariate general model analysis – sample excluding Toro

Effect		Value	F	Hypothesis df	Error df	Sig.
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.464	44.498 ^b	3.000	154.000	<.001
	Wilks' Lambda	.536	44.498 ^b	3.000	154.000	<.001
	Hotelling's Trace	.867	44.498 ^b	3.000	154.000	<.001
	Roy's Largest Root	.867	44.498 ^b	3.000	154.000	<.001
Product_category	Pillai's Trace	.020	1.056 ^b	3.000	154.000	.370
	Wilks' Lambda	.980	1.056 ^b	3.000	154.000	.370
	Hotelling's Trace	.021	1.056 ^b	3.000	154.000	.370
	Roy's Largest Root	.021	1.056 ^b	3.000	154.000	.370
Message	Pillai's Trace	.057	3.100 ^b	3.000	154.000	.029
	Wilks' Lambda	.943	3.100 ^b	3.000	154.000	.029
	Hotelling's Trace	.060	3.100 ^b	3.000	154.000	.029
	Roy's Largest Root	.060	3.100 ^b	3.000	154.000	.029

Multivariate Tests^a